UNAIDS/PCB(19)06.19 21 January 2007

Report of the Nineteenth Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board Lusaka, 6–8 December 2006

Table of Contents

1: Opening	3
1.1: Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda	3
1.2: Confirmation of Officers	3
1.3: Statement of the Executive Director	3
2: Progress in implementation and coordination of the national AIDS response	9
3: Multilateral support at country level	12
4: Follow-up to the 2006 Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS	14
4.1: 2007–2010 Strategic Framework for UNAIDS support to countries' efforts to move towards universal access	14
4.2: Review of UNAIDS tasks	15
5: Strengthening of global coordination on AIDS	15
6: AIDS, Security and Humanitarian Response	16
7: Any other business	18
8: Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions	19
ANNEX I: List of participants	20
ANNEX II: Decisions, recommendations and conclusions	50

1: Opening

1.1: Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda

The 19th meeting of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) took place at the Mulungushi Conference Centre in Lusaka, Zambia, on 6–8 December 2006. This was a thematic meeting on the implementation of the response to the AIDS epidemic at country level. Participants are listed in Annex I.

As requested by the US delegation, the issue of the establishment of an international day on HIV testing was added to the provisional agenda for the meeting to be considered under other matters. The agenda was adopted as amended.

The Chair opened the meeting by thanking the PCB's Zambian hosts, noting the impact that the previous day's field visits had had in reminding PCB members of the severity of the devastation brought to individuals and communities by AIDS.

After recalling some of the key AIDS-related events in 2006, including the General Assembly High-Level Meeting on AIDS, the Chair said that, as underlined by the theme of the 2006 International AIDS Conference, the time has come to transform promises into action.

The need for coordination of responses and sustainability of solutions were outlined by the Chair as key elements of an effective response, together with a move towards concretion involving among other things: addressing AIDS and security issues; tapping the potential role of the private sector in the AIDS response; addressing women's vulnerability particularly with respect to sexual and reproductive health and rights; making progress on the health systems front.

In referring to the governance of the programme, the Chair pointed to the need for members to find ways to give strategic direction without getting involved in day-to-day management. The need to fully integrate governance processes and mechanisms with UN reform was also emphasized.

Finally, the Chair concluded addressing three issues: the need for the PCB to keep the Secretariat size and capacity in mind when considering new tasks to be performed; the need for all stakeholders to be accountable for commitments made on AIDS; and the need for stronger cooperation between governments and civil society.

1.2: Confirmation of Officers

In accordance with agreed procedures, Sweden served as Chair for the meeting, Thailand served as Vice-Chair and Australia was Rapporteur.

Recalling that it was not possible to report on PCB NGOs (nongovernmental organizations) elections at the last regular session in June 2006, the Chair informed the Board that as of 1 January 2007 the NGO representation to the Board will be as follows:

Africa: Rwanda Women's Network represented by Ms Mary Balikungeri as the main delegate; and Cameroonian Network of Associations of People Living with HIV/AIDS (RECAP+) represented by Mr James Kayo as the alternate delegate; Asia Pacific: Asia Pacific Network of People Living with HIV/AIDS (APN+) represented by Ms Rachel Ong as the main delegate; and Gram Bharai Samiti (GBS) represented by Mr Bhawani Shanker Kusum as the alternate delegate Europe: YouAct represented by Mr Paulo Vieira as the main delegate; and Russian Harm Reduction Network represented by Mr Vitaly Zhumagaliev as the alternate delegate;

Latin America and the Caribbean: Rede Latinoamericana de Reducao de Danos (Relard) represented by Ms Sandra Batista as the main delegate; and Bolivian Network of people living with HIV/AIDS (REDBOL) represented by Ms Gracia Violeta Ross as the alternate delegate;

North America: Interagency Coalition on AIDS and Development (ICAD) represented by Mr Michael O'Connor as the main delegate; and International Women Health Coalition represented by Ms Zonibel Woods as the alternate delegate.

1.3: Statement of the Executive Director

Dr Peter Piot (Executive Director, UNAIDS) thanked the PCB's Zambian hosts, noting the considerable progress made in Zambia, especially at the grassroots level, in strengthening the AIDS response. A moment of silence was observed in memory of Mr Omololu Falobi, former PCB NGO member for Africa who had tragically passed away.

Dr Piot observed that the global epidemic is still progressing with an estimated 4.3 million new infections in 2006, including a 50% increase in infections over the last two years in Central Asia and Eastern Europe and worrying resurgence of the epidemic in some countries that had earlier made headway. Real progress has been achieved in the AIDS response, with expenditures of nearly US\$ 9 billion directed towards AIDS-related programmes in low- and middle-income countries in 2006, an increase over the US\$ 8.3 billion spent in 2005. These financial resources are generating positive returns, with nearly 2 million people receiving antiretrovirals. HIV prevalence among young people is also on the decline in many countries, including Zambia. The 2.9 million AIDS deaths in 2006, however, illustrate the sobering challenges of the AIDS response. He said the spread of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis underscores the need to integrate HIV and TB efforts.

In the second half of 2006, UNAIDS had three principal objectives: **first**, to start turning commitments of the Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS from the High Level Meeting into meaningful action; **second**, to highlight HIV prevention among women; and **third**, to strengthen the unity and coordination of the UN system at country level.

As of December 2006, 84 countries had established national targets towards universal access with significant support from UNAIDS and these were being published on the UNAIDS web site, with the aim of increasing transparency. Most countries have established treatment targets, but prevention targets often remain weak. Few countries, for example, have agreed on targets for sexual behaviour change, gender equality, HIV testing and other key prevention-related issues. In all cases, it is vital to ensure that civil society and in particular, people living with HIV, serve as equal partners in the AIDS response.

Dr Piot said he was gratified to observe the high priority placed on HIV prevention at the 2006 International AIDS Conference in Toronto and UNAIDS led several activities to support this "return of prevention". UNAIDS launched a "Unite for HIV prevention" partnership among a wide range of actors to build vocal constituencies for HIV prevention which is expected to gain further momentum in 2007. A practical guideline for intensifying HIV prevention in diverse epidemiological scenarios is also available.

Encouraging movement is apparent on policy and practice pertaining to HIV testing, with the World Health Organization (WHO) and the UNAIDS Secretariat having released, for consultation, a set of revised guidelines to promote greater uptake of voluntary HIV counselling and testing. The UN General Assembly adopted a resolution entitled "International Voluntary HIV Counselling and Testing Day." UNAIDS stands ready to work with governments and civil society to implement a testing day at country level.

Dr Piot noted that as injecting drug use has increased as a source of HIV infection in many countries, the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) has increased its work in this area. The World Health Organization (WHO) is leading efforts of the Joint Programme to anticipate implementation of adult male circumcision for HIV prevention, and UNAIDS is intensifying its efforts on HIV prevention among men who have sex with men. With the support of the UNAIDS Regional Support Team in Johannesburg and the harmonized efforts of six UN agencies, the Southern African Development Community is spearheading an initiative to implement the African Union's commitments on HIV prevention. In its work with countries, UNAIDS is stressing the importance of "knowing your epidemic" in order to tailor HIV prevention strategies to documented national needs.

Monitoring and evaluation remains a top concern for UNAIDS, which has placed more than 40 monitoring and evaluation officers in country offices. Further thematic analysis of data is being conducted. In response to a request from the PCB, UNAIDS is working to improve and update resource needs and tracking of global and resources projections and monitoring country levels over the next five years. UNAIDS is also evaluating NGO participation in the PCB, with the goal of strengthening meaningful civil society engagement in the governance of the Joint Programme (an area UNAIDS has been pioneering as in other aspects of UN reform) and its operations. The results of this evaluation will be reported to the PCB at its annual meeting in June 2007.

Dr Piot stressed the progress made in strengthening the UNAIDS Secretariat which now has staff in 85 countries. An overhaul of the resources management services will be implemented in 2007 and the first phase of the pay for performance pilot exercise and staff mobility policy were implemented. Beyond being an office, it is hoped that the new headquarters building will become a centre for dialogue on AIDS.

Dr Piot noted that the focus of the 19th PCB meeting is implementation of the AIDS response at country level which provides an opportunity to assess the Joint Programme's success in implementing PCB decisions concerning country level action on AIDS. Dr Piot said the biggest challenge facing the AIDS response involves "making the money work" to achieve results on the ground but also a requirement for sustained and increased funding for AIDS. He observed that the complementarity in

the work of UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria is still to be turned into real synergy. He expressed concern about duplication of work on technical assistance. He encouraged members of the PCB and the governing board of the Global Fund to take the same positions when they attend meetings of both bodies and fund both the Global Fund and the technical agencies ensuring that its "money works."

UN agencies are working to implement the recommendations of the Global Task Team on Improving AIDS Coordination Among Multilateral Institutions and International Donors, Dr Piot reported. While strong UN teams are functioning well in several countries, Dr Piot stressed the need to extend such success to all countries and pledged to work with the Executive Heads of UNAIDS Cosponsors to implement joint UN teams. He expressed surprise that the Report of the Secretary-General's High Level Panel on UN System Wide Coherence did not address the need for systematic incentives to encourage improved collaboration at country level. Dr Piot and Mr Kemal Dervis, Administrator of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), recently signed a joint letter to all UNDP staff regarding UN coherence and cooperation in countries. Dr Piot announced that UNAIDS had determined to grant Programme Acceleration Funds only to programmes that adhere to a joint framework for action on AIDS and demonstrate accountability. He called for donors to fund AIDS activities by UN agencies in countries only if they are part of a joint programme and correspond to the PCB agreed division of labour. He further stressed that "making the money work" also requires greater involvement of civil society and a more harmonized donor response.

Dr Piot said the world is entering a new phase of the global AIDS response. In addition to responding to immediate challenges, the global community will need to plan now and integrate into today's work a response that can be sustained for a generation or more. He identified some of the key challenges as follows: 1) keeping AIDS as a top political priority at global and national level recognizing the exceptionality of AIDS and building a strong political coalition; 2) full and predictable funding based on proven results and using innovative financial mechanisms and special measures such as reducing drug unit costs; 3) resolute scaling up towards universal access to HIV prevention and treatment with appropriate attention to the human resource crisis; 4) addressing the fundamental drivers of the epidemic including gender inequality, stigma and discrimination, and deprivation in general; and 5) ensuring greater and sustained investment in developing new technologies (microbicides and other female-controlled prevention methods, new AIDS drugs, vaccine) along with putting in place mechanisms to ensure wide and fair access.

Dr Piot noted that UNAIDS is making gender a cross-cutting issue for the Joint Programme besides human rights and the involvement of people living with HIV. Recalling earlier skepticism regarding the funding and feasibility of introducing antiretrovirals in resource-limited settings, he stressed that the long-term challenges posed by the epidemic, while daunting, are solvable. He highlighted the role of UNAIDS in setting this long-term agenda as identifying options for solutions, generating public debate and mobilizing a wide range of constituencies looking into the next 25 years of the epidemic. Dr Piot asked the PCB to allocate US\$ 1 million to start this process and strengthen the Joint Programme's capacity to engage in long-

term strategic planning for the AIDS response including through the new Strategy Unit of the UNAIDS Secretariat.

Dr Piot thanked all donors present at the PCB meeting for their continued and growing financial support for UNAIDS. He said the Unified Budget and Workplan for 2008–2009, which will be submitted for PCB endorsement in June 2007, will include some increases in funding to enable the Programme's support to countries in their AIDS efforts.

Dr Piot noted the 19th PCB meeting was occurring at a time of some transition for the UN and the Joint Programme. Dr Piot praised the personal leadership of the outgoing Secretary-General Kofi Annan. The incoming UN Secretary-General, Ban Ki-moon has already expressed his strong commitment to prioritize the AIDS response. The Joint Programme, and the world at large, lost a committed AIDS champion with the sudden death of Dr Lee Jong-wook, the late Director-General of WHO. Jim Morris, current Chair of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations and a strong AIDS supporter who greatly contributed to intensified action on AIDS, food security and nutrition, is also leaving as head of the World Food Programme.

In his concluding remarks, Dr Piot also highlighted the society-wide devastation caused by AIDS in Southern Africa. The region requires no less than exceptional national leadership as well as being considered top priority by all development partners. This includes addressing the drivers of the epidemic—in particular gender inequality and socioeconomic and cultural environment—as well as ensuring the most favorable financing conditions for the AIDS response and restoring human capacity.

Following the Executive Director's presentation, the PCB applauded his emphasis on HIV prevention, including the importance of addressing the epidemic's fundamental drivers, and for countries to "know their epidemics" to optimize strategies and their impact based on local dialogue and the socioeconomic context. The PCB cited factors that continue to impede a more effective response, including limited human resources, HIV stigma and discrimination and gender inequality. The challenge of providing HIV prevention and treatment for mobile populations and changing men's behaviour was also noted, and it was observed that new infections remain heavily concentrated among young people. The PCB also stressed the link between HIV and sexual violence and the attention to be given to the specific situations of conflict and humanitarian emergencies. Some member countries reported that they are already beginning to embrace the International Voluntary HIV Counselling and Testing Day. The PCB cautioned that the number of AIDS orphans is expected to rise considerably by the end of the decade, placing enormous stress on overburdened social services and community structures.

Recognizing the exceptionality of AIDS, the PCB stressed the link between AIDS and the long-term development agenda as well as the challenges that AIDS poses to health-care systems. PCB members expressed strong support for UNAIDS engagement in strategic thinking to guide the current and future work for the long-term response to AIDS, including through adequately funding this agenda and support to the new strategy unit as requested by Dr Piot.

The PCB stressed the need for continued reform to: ensure harmonized action at country level; overcome bureaucratic bottlenecks; move with more urgency; and

encourage responsibility and accountability among member states, the UN and other development partners, in support of national ownership and leadership. The PCB encouraged UNAIDS to review the recommendations of the Secretary-General's High-level Panel on UN System Wide Coherence and its implications for UNAIDS. The PCB favourably acknowledged the Joint Programme's intention to reserve Programme Acceleration Funds solely for Joint UN Teams on AIDS and Joint Programmes of Support.

The need for stronger engagement of civil society at all levels in global and national AIDS responses was underscored. The PCB further noted the potential role of South-South collaboration in building national capacity on AIDS. It was determined that in future PCB meetings, all members would have an equal opportunity to speak, revising existing procedures stipulating that NGO representatives could speak only after government representatives had spoken.

The PCB endorsed the Joint Programme's commitment to work with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria to ensure systematic cooperation and collaboration in responding to the epidemic. It was noted that additional technical assistance is required to ensure effective implementation of grants awarded by the Global Fund.

The importance of tracking resource flows was also acknowledged, as was the need for ownership and further refinement in the methodology for estimating future resource needs. The PCB also noted the potential of the private sector to contribute to the AIDS response.

In response to the various contributions of PCB members, Dr Piot said he welcomed a robust discussion on UNAIDS governance and in particular, how to meaningfully increase NGO participation. The related ongoing review should help inform further PCB discussion on this in June. Other support from UNAIDS to civil society at global and country levels will also continue. He reiterated gender, stigma and discrimination and greater involvement of people living with HIV as cross-cutting priorities to be strengthened. Dr Piot said AIDS provided new challenges but also potential opportunities to strengthen health systems. With respect to the epidemic's gender dimensions, Dr Piot agreed that it was essential to change the behaviour and attitudes of males. He stressed how efforts should now focus on implementing the HIV prevention policy at the local level based on dialogue and what works in specific contexts even if local data remains sparse. He confirmed his determination to address bureaucratic bottlenecks including through modern and transparent communication tools. UNAIDS is reviewing the recommendations of the Secretary-General's Highlevel Panel on UN System Wide Coherence, especially for country-level work, and will continue investing in the UN reform agenda. Efforts will be done to ensure a more coordinated UN response for young people. He explained that the resource estimate exercise will include reviewing the methodology with critical constituencies and look at possible scenarios as part of the long-term agenda development. He welcomed the decision by the German Government to use its upcoming European Union presidency as an advocacy forum for AIDS in the European region. Finally, he thanked the PCB members for their support for the long-term agenda which will require creative thinking and he confirmed his personal commitment to develop it.

The afternoon session of the first day started with an address by His Excellency the Honorable Mr Rupiah Banda, Vice President of Zambia. He noted that Zambia has been heavily affected by AIDS, with an estimated 16% of all adults currently living with HIV. Infections are higher among women than men, and roughly 40% of infants born to HIV-infected mothers are also infected. The Zambian Government has embarked on a national, multisectoral response that is coordinated by the National AIDS Council. The country's goal is to begin to reverse the epidemic's spread and impact by 2010. According to the Vice President, the Government actively partners with businesses, civil society, bilateral donors and multilateral organizations in responding to AIDS. AIDS programmes have been scaled up in all parts of the country, AIDS has been incorporated into the national development agenda, and the country has actively worked to implement the "Three Ones" principles. Key elements of the national response include treatment and care, with improved referrals and follow-up; prevention of mother-to-child transmission; improved laboratory services; voluntary counselling and testing; nearly 100% coverage of blood screening; behaviour change programmes; and support for orphans and vulnerable children. The Vice President reported that Zambia is providing antiretrovirals to 70 000 people in 146 sites throughout the country (out of 200 000 nationwide who need treatment services). The country is also the site for a clinical trial on an experimental AIDS vaccine. With as many as 20% of the country's children likely to be orphaned by AIDS by 2015, the Government has implemented universal basic education, life skills programmes and school-based AIDS education.

Dr Piot acknowledged the commitment of the Zambian Government and asked the Vice President to express his appreciation to the President and First Lady for their strong leadership on AIDS.

2: Progress in implementation and coordination of the national AIDS response

Mr Michel Sidibe, Director of the UNAIDS Country and Regional Support Department, summarized the links between the "Three Ones" principles and the process for establishing targets towards universal access. Mr Sidibe noted the encouraging progress at country level in establishing national targets, as well as the strong participation of civil society in target-setting processes in many countries. He cited the urgent need to harmonize the efforts of all partners and noted that the harmonization agenda challenges the international community to change systems, priorities and practices. UNAIDS has piloted the Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool in nine countries and were supporting the development of guidelines for civil society involvement in implementation of the "Three Ones".

As a prelude to parallel roundtables on various aspects of country level implementation and coordination, the PCB heard three presentations. Ms Mariângela Simão (Director, National STD and AIDS Programme, Ministry of Health Brazil) reflected on the experience of Brazil in addressing the question, "What or who is the national authority?" Brazil formally provides for universal health-care access: 70% of the population relies on the country's decentralized national health system. Civil society representatives make up 50% of state and municipal health councils. The Health Ministry is accountable for the national AIDS response in Brazil, and the country's consultative body is the National HIV/AIDS Commission. An expanded UN Theme Group on HIV/AIDS works with national authorities and actively supports harmonization and alignment of all partners. Brazil served as a pilot country for the

Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool. The Latin American region benefits from various horizontal technical cooperation groups. Summarizing lessons learnt, Ms Simão said it was challenging to strike the appropriate balance with respect to the involvement of civil society. National government and international donors do not always have the same goals, making harmonization and alignment difficult to achieve. Avoiding dependency on international donors is often challenging for many developing countries.

Ms Olayide Akanni (Journalists Against AIDS, Nigeria) discussed the importance of involving civil society in the AIDS response. In 2006, 60% of countries have costed national AIDS frameworks, yet civil society involvement has often been minimal with respect to the development, implementation or monitoring of the national response. Of the 50% of countries that reported having a framework for monitoring and evaluation, several said civil society was involved in its development, although many civil society groups are poorly informed about monitoring and evaluation. A consultation with bilateral and multilateral partners on the "Three Ones" in Nigeria in 2005 reflected the need for greater coordination among civil society, a priority that has since been addressed by the creation of an Abuja-based forum for civil society coordination. It was observed that civil society sometimes has an insufficient understanding of the "Three Ones" and typically requires additional resources and networking mechanisms to participate fully in implementation of strategies and programmes. Ms Akanni reported that no mechanisms presently exist to measure civil society involvement in efforts to achieve universal access. He emphasized the need to involve civil society in the implementation of the Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool.

H.E. Mrs Sigrun Møgedal (Ambassador, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Norway) discussed how donors can support a single national initiative towards universal access. She observed that donors are a diverse group, including public and non-state partners. As a result of the multiplicity of external funding streams, there is often little coherence in the efforts of donors from countries belonging to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Although public sector support represents the largest share of donor support, donors also include NGOs, UN agencies and the private sector. A number of factors hinder donor support for a single national framework, including the fact that different actors often have widely varying perceptions of reality.

The PCB divided into four discussion groups to analyze particular aspects of national implementation and coordination of the national response. Rapporteurs in each group reported in a plenary session on the conclusions and recommendations reached in each group discussion.

Reporting for the group that focused on implementation and accountability for results, Ms Zonibel Woods (Observer, the International Women's Health Coalition), stressed the importance of developing monitoring and evaluation tools capable of assessing the nature and degree of civil society involvement. She also noted the importance of providing financial support to build the capacity of civil society groups to participate as full partners in the national response. It was reported that a major benefit of joint reviews is the opportunity afforded for interaction of diverse stakeholders involved in the national response. Ms Woods cautioned that joint reviews sometimes focus

exclusively on financial issues rather than on implementation. The importance of full harmonization and alignment was stressed.

Mr Geoff Adlide (Counsellor, Permanent Mission, Australia) reported on behalf of the group that had focused on coordination, inclusion and strengthening institutional capacities. He observed that full inclusion of most-at-risk populations, such as men who have sex with men and people who inject drugs, is often impossible because the behaviours in which they engage have been criminalized. He stressed the need for measures to build civil society capacity and to improve the transparency of the selection of members of AIDS coordinating bodies. He also said mechanisms for implementation and coordination of the national response should not be externally imposed but should be developed and owned by countries themselves. The need to respect coordinating mechanisms in countries and supporting the use of and continued strengthening of established and agreed systems was of particular importance.

The third group had examined the challenge of effective country level harmonization to achieve universal access, with a particular emphasis on improving monitoring. Dr Abdelkader Bacha (International HIV/AIDS Alliance), on behalf of the group, reported that experiences in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and the Russian Federation indicate that the Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool is highly useful and can be applied in diverse national situations. The group observed that civil society is often insufficiently engaged in monitoring and evaluation efforts and requires support to build adequate capacity. In rolling out the Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool, UNAIDS should aim to strengthen national ownership and capacity. Donors should avoid a "silo approach" to AIDS assistance and become fully integrated in national processes. Donors should also not impose their conditions and systems but function in a partnership with other stakeholders. The need for harmonization of reporting mechanisms to donors to alleviate burdens for countries were also highlighted. National consultations involving all stakeholders, including donors and civil society, provide a potentially useful vehicle to "sell" harmonization to external stakeholders. It was suggested that peer review of the experiences of the nine countries in which the Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool was piloted could help inform implementation of the tool in other countries.

Ms Rachel Ong (NGO delegate, Asia and Pacific region) reported on behalf of the fourth group, which had analyzed lessons learnt from national target setting for universal access. Key barriers to universal access identified by the group included insufficient human capacity in health systems, inadequate national ownership of the targets and extremely low coverage for key interventions. The partnership between government and civil society is frequently ad hoc, and much work remains to ensure full harmonization of effort. It was of particular importance to look at improving the selection process of civil society in the target setting process to avoid national AIDS authorities handpick their preferred civil society organizations. The group recommended increased financial assistance to countries to avoid funding gaps, implementation of transparent mechanisms to facilitate civil society involvement, and initiatives to build the capacity of civil society groups.

In response to the presentations of the group rapporteurs, the PCB recognized the need for continued follow-up support for national target-setting towards universal access to comprehensive HIV prevention programmes, treatment, care and support. The PCB particularly emphasized the importance of facilitating coordinated strategies

to overcome obstacles to scaling up. The importance of gender disaggregation of targets was noted by the PCB. UNAIDS was asked to report on progress in national target-setting at the 20th meeting of the PCB in June 2007, making use of additional data sources, including independent reports from civil society and academic institutions.

The PCB emphasized that experiences in diverse countries underlined the importance of actively engaging civil society in implementation of national strategies and programmes. The PCB welcomed the development by UNAIDS of Civil Society Guidelines to strengthen the meaningful involvement of civil society, especially people living with HIV, in national AIDS responses. The PCB further called for greater involvement and partnership of non-state actors in policy-setting and information-sharing processes in national AIDS responses. UNAIDS was urged by the PCB to use its facilitating role to assist national authorities in fulfilling their commitments to work with civil society.

The PCB noted the importance of the Country Harmonization and Alignment Tool for increasing country level accountability. To be effective, the tool requires strong national ownership. Acknowledging its potential to identify opportunities for promoting improved harmonization and alignment, the PCB requested that, in December 2007, UNAIDS report on its implementation progress. It was observed that difficulties have arisen in some countries with regard to the respective authority and status of the National AIDS Council and the Country Coordinating Mechanism of the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. The need for greater adherence by donors to the principles articulated in the 2005 Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness was noted. The PCB asked UNAIDS to present the final report of the Global Task Team Independent Assessment to the PCB at its 20th meeting in June 2007.

3: Multilateral support at country level

Mr Elhadj Sy (Director, HIV/AIDS Group, UNDP) introduced the item by saying that national AIDS responses should be the joint effort of all stakeholders under the leadership of the national government. Coordination, harmonization and alignment are essential for the success of national efforts. In recognition of the Global Task Team's finding that many countries are facing serious barriers to implementation of national AIDS strategies, the UNAIDS family has increased its efforts to facilitate and provide technical assistance to countries. Mr Sy stated that the Global Joint Problem-Solving and Implementation Support Team provides a platform for joint efforts on implementation. It was noted that civil society is not merely a recipient of technical assistance but also a provider of technical support.

A moderated discussion in plenary on multilateral support was led by Dr Suwit Wibulpolprasert (Senior Advisor, Ministry of Health, Thailand). Dr Ben Chirwa (Director, National AIDS Council, Zambia) reported that Zambia had developed its fifth development plan, including a separate chapter on AIDS and integrated the AIDS response into the document as a whole. All UN actors have a role to play in the national strategic AIDS framework, and the UN is regarded as an honest and dependable broker by national authorities in Zambia. Dr Aneas Chuma (UN Resident Coordinator, Zambia) noted that Zambia has served as a pilot country for implementation of principles from the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness.

Consistent with the directive of UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan, a single UN team operates in Zambia, with coordination meetings occurring monthly. The AIDS team in Zambia is considering the development of a single budget on AIDS, and the team has worked to forge meaningful partnerships with both government and civil society. Dr Catherine Sozi (UNAIDS Country Coordinator, Zambia) reported that a mapping of technical resources had taken place and that efforts had been made to ensure close adherence to the UNAIDS division of labour. As a result of the mapping exercise, steps had been taken by various agencies to close identified gaps in technical expertise; for example, UNDP hired staff on gender and human rights to address key gaps.

Following the moderated discussion, the PCB broke into four discussion groups on multilateral AIDS efforts, with rapporteurs reporting in a subsequent plenary session on findings and recommendations of each group. Mr Steve Kraus (Chief, HIV/AIDS Branch, UNFPA) reported on behalf of the first group, which focused on joint UN teams and the division of labour. Mr Kraus noted that progress has been made on joint UN teams but that few teams have created joint plans. Engagement of the UN system on AIDS remains uneven in many countries. The multiplicity of UN agencies and the lack of mechanisms for joint financing or budgeting makes joint programming difficult to achieve. Mr Kraus emphasized the importance of aligning joint UN efforts with national plans and priorities. The group stressed the need for UN agency executive heads to enforce the Secretary-General's directive on joint programming. The group also recommended that donors only fund proposals from UN agencies that are part of a joint programme adhering to the agreed division of labour. Agencies should report to their governing bodies on progress in overcoming obstacles to joint programming.

The second group discussed increasing UN technical support through Technical Support Facilities (TSF) and other regional mechanisms. The group rapporteur Mr Anthony Kinghorn (Director, TSF for Southern Africa) observed that five TSFs are now in place and that the TSFs have commissioned over 2000 days of technical assistance. With a growing reliance on national and regional consultants, there has been a decline in "fly-in, fly-out" technical assistance which will contribute to making technical assistance more sustainable. Experience with WHO's Uganda knowledge hub underscores the need for long-term investment in technical assistance, the challenge of building local capacity for technical support and the importance of prioritizing technical assistance needs. The International Center for Technical Cooperation on HIV/AIDS in Brazil also provided an excellent model of coordination between partners (donors, national governments and the UN System) in scaling up technical support and capacity development. People living with HIV and other civil society groups are involved as providers and recipients of technical assistance, but their engagement has to be further scaled up. It was noted that improved coordination of existing technical support resources is an important priority and that, in countries where the "Three Ones" was functioning effectively, technical assistance was better coordinated and utilized by country partners. The group recommended that UNAIDS and other providers of technical assistance support country partners in the development in the development of clear and costed technical assistance plans as part of the national AIDS workplans and emphasized the need for joined planning between the various providers of technical assistance to enhance the efficiency of available technical assistance mechanisms.

The third group examined lessons learnt from the Global Joint Problem-Solving and Implementation Support Team (GIST), which was established to ensure that bottlenecks to implementation are addressed in a timely and effective manner. Reporting on behalf of the group, Mr Duncan Earle (Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria) said that the GIST has been expanded to include three bilateral donors and three civil society organizations. Countries and other partners appear to appreciate GIST, although it is sometimes difficult for countries to identify which factors are responsible for slow implementation. It was reported that some countries have hesitated to make use of GIST due to the perceived stigma associated with requests for technical assistance. The group recommended enhanced investment in marketing to increase awareness and understanding of how it works.

A fourth group discussed empowering national leadership and ownership through the integration of AIDS into national development frameworks. Reporting on behalf of the group, Ms Doreen Mulenga (UNICEF) said progress has been made in integrating AIDS into development frameworks, although few national plans have been costed. In addition, many national plans do not extend beyond the health sector. The group concluded that additional technical assistance is critical to build capacity for AIDS mainstreaming and strategic planning. Civil society involvement in AIDS mainstreaming and strategic planning was also stressed by the group. Adequate resources must be allocated to social programmes that reach the most vulnerable populations. It was observed that existing mechanisms for mainstreaming and strategic planning, such as the AIDS Strategic Action Plans, are typically demand-driven and can be effective only if countries specifically request support.

The PCB called on the executive heads of UNAIDS Cosponsors and the Secretariat to ensure country level adherence to the Secretary-General's directive on joint UN programming. Implementation of appropriate incentives for joint programming, and harmonization and alignment of UN partners was also emphasized by the PCB. It was further agreed that PCB members and observers should support joint programming in their capacities as governing board members of UNAIDS Cosponsors. The PCB also encouraged development partners to support UN reform at country level by reserving funding for joint AIDS programmes that respect the UNAIDS division of labour. The PCB asked the UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors to review practical barriers to joint programming at country level and to report to their respective boards on strategies for overcoming such barriers. The UNAIDS Secretariat and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria were called on by the PCB to improve coordination of technical assistance to countries on grant implementation.

Acknowledging the considerable confusion in many countries regarding technical resources, the PCB recommended improved efforts to promote the use of Technical Support Facilities. It was agreed by the PCB that country staff members should work closely with national partners to identify and resolve implementation difficulties, including the involvement of GIST. The PCB noted the need for improved evaluation efforts to track who provides and who benefits from capacity building and technical assistance.

4: Follow-up to the 2006 Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS

4.1: 2007–2010 Strategic Framework for UNAIDS support to countries' efforts to move towards universal access

Mr Sidibe noted that the PCB had requested that UNAIDS develop such a framework and said the framework established the goal of universal access as the overarching focus for the Joint Programme. The framework identifies a common set of strategic directions among Cosponsors and the Secretariat, taking into account the comparative advantage and sectoral competence of individual members of the UNAIDS family.

Mr Sidibe observed that the global AIDS response is rapidly shifting from crisis management to planning for a long-term response. Through improved coordination and strategic effectiveness, the UN system should play a leading role in the development and dissemination of evidence-informed policies, facilitate the full participation of people living with HIV and civil society at all levels of the response and strengthen mechanisms for monitoring and evaluation. UNAIDS should also lead global efforts to ground the AIDS response in a human rights approach and to reduce vulnerability. As access to treatment expands, Mr Sidibe said, HIV prevention services should also be brought to scale. The Joint Programme should also actively support the harmonization and alignment of all stakeholders with national plans.

The PCB endorsed the Strategic Framework as the principal guide to global, regional and country level planning, budgeting, implementation and monitoring of progress of the Joint Programme's support to countries' efforts to move towards the goal of universal access. The PCB welcomed the framework's emphasis on gender and requested that the framework better emphasize the links between AIDS and the broader development response. Strengthened wording on stigma and discrimination was also requested, as was additional language on the need for adherence to the UNAIDS division of labour, the importance of HIV prevention services for mobile populations and maximizing use of flexibility under the World Trade Organization Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights. The PCB noted the importance of developing a global constituency for HIV prevention and asked that the document be revised to better reflect the role of civil society. The PCB welcomed the Secretariat's pledge to make relevant changes to the final Strategic Framework reflecting the written comments provided in support of the interventions made during the PCB discussion. The PCB asked the Secretariat to provide a mid-term review report on progress at the 21st PCB meeting in 2008.

4.2: Review of UNAIDS tasks

Ms Debbie Landey (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) noted that the PCB had asked UNAIDS to review its tasks, with the objective of retirement and/or consolidation of tasks. In addition to examining PCB-assigned tasks, the Secretariat had also taken into account mandates given to it by the UN Economic and Social Council, the UN General Assembly, and the Security Council. A paper submitted to the PCB at its 19th meeting summarized the list of tasks that no longer address core priorities of UNAIDS and/or that have been overtaken by subsequent development. The PCB endorsed the list of active tasks proposed for retirement and asked that the Secretariat periodically undertake a review of potential tasks to be retired. The PCB reaffirmed the five guiding principles proposed by the paper for all aspects of the work of the Joint Programme and determined to include them as a preamble to all future PCB decisions, recommendations and conclusions. The PCB determined to keep the five guiding principles in mind in its production of concrete, actionable and

time-bound decisions, recommendations and conclusions. Note was taken of the UNAIDS paper's consolidation of active tasks into broad clusters of activities.

In response to PCB interventions, Ms Landey agreed that reassessment of tasks should be performed on a regular basis. The Secretariat will take specific suggestions of PCB members into account in retiring and consolidating tasks. Suggestions made by individual PCB members included stronger language on human rights and gender equality, recognition of TRIPS flexibility as an important priority for the Joint Programme, and additional consolidation of activities relating to resource mobilization.

5: Strengthening of global coordination on AIDS

Having considered a paper outlining options, the PCB agreed to establish a process to elaborate further on UNAIDS' role in strengthening global coordination on AIDS. This process will be led by the Chair and Vice-Chair of the PCB, in close consultation with PCB members and observers and with the support of the Secretariat. This process will consider how to develop the PCB into a more relevant and effective policy-making board, examining such matters as the number of PCB meetings, venues, character of meetings, PCB representation, NGO participation, speaking protocol, decision-making, and further development of the constituency system. A report with recommendations will be presented to the 20th PCB meeting in June 2007.

Ms Landey observed that the Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS from the High Level Meeting called on UNAIDS to strengthen global coordination. Dr Piot said boards of different organizations often make conflicting decisions, even when donors or NGOs sit on both boards, which can hamper the effectiveness of coordinated action at country level. The PCB suggested that regular meetings of the executive heads of the leading multilateral organizations should be considered. Other proposed options, including the possibility of joint board meetings of UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, were discussed, although no consensus was reached. Dr Piot said the examination of options to promote global coordination should take financial costs into account; holding the PCB meeting in Zambia, for example, cost US\$ 500 000, in comparison to the US\$ 110 000 for PCB meetings in Geneva.

6: AIDS, Security and Humanitarian Response

Dr Paul Spiegel (Head of HIV Unit, UNHCR) reported that approximately 200 million people are affected by emergencies throughout the world. Emergencies may be due to conflict or natural disasters. Some emergencies lead to widespread population displacement, either internal or across national borders, while others affect only certain parts of a country or region. Emergency-affected populations include refugees, internally displaced persons (IDPs), demobilized and demobilizing excombatants, returnees, and those affected by food insecurity. Various armed forces and uniformed services, as well as humanitarian workers, are also affected.

The Inter-Agency Standing Commission has issued guidelines for a multisectoral AIDS response in humanitarian situations that also address gender and sexual violence and the vulnerability of children. Food and nutrition has been integrated into AIDS programmes in emergency settings, and guidelines for treatment access are in

the process of being developed. Coverage of essential services remains far from universal, however, especially for marginalized populations. Progress has been made in addressing HIV among national militaries but efforts are less advanced with respect to national police. The links between AIDS, security and humanitarian situations are complex, Dr Spiegel said, and it is important to tailor strategies and interventions to specific epidemiological and vulnerability conditions.

Mr Eusebe Hounsokou (UNHCR Representative, Democratic Republic of the Congo) reported that the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees mandates that refugees and IDPs should be accorded the same level of care received by nationals. Having become the 10th UNAIDS Cosponsor in 2004, UNHCR is the Joint Programme's lead agency on HIV and displaced persons. Mr Hounsokou said the forms of displacement caused by conflict in the Democratic Republic of the Congo have been diverse. With the recent improvement in national conditions, many individuals are returning to their home villages and communities. Displacement as a result of conflict frequently deepens poverty, disrupts community structures and coping mechanisms, increases the risks of violence and substance abuse, and typically visits the most severe effects on women and children. UNHCR works closely with the UNAIDS Country Coordinator and the UN Country Team to promote the integration of basic HIV services into return and reintegration programmes. Funding from the World Bank has been especially helpful for such efforts, permitting the introduction of antiretrovirals. Success of these and related initiatives will depend on sustained stability in the country, Mr Hounsokou said, as well as on flexibility of funding, coordination of diverse efforts and the active involvement of government, donors, UN agencies and NGOs.

Ms. Annie Farray (NGO representative, the Democratic Republic of the Congo), stated that 67 women in the Democratic Republic of the Congo are raped each day, with 77% believed to be committed by armed forces. HIV prevalence among rape victims is two to five times higher than the national average. Sexual violence has negative effects on entire families and on society at large, and the impact of sexual violence is exacerbated by poverty and HIV. As a reflection of the country's weak governance, an aura of impunity surrounds the perpetrators of sexual violence, contributing to a generalized environment of social chaos.

In the Democratic Republic of the Congo, a joint initiative has been established between the national government, NGOs and the UN system agencies under the coordination of UNFPA. Through joint programming and the support of numerous donors, holistic support is provided to victims of sexual violence in the eastern part of the country.

Dr. Cheikh Diagne (HIV/AIDS Policy Advisor, UN Peacekeeping Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo - MONUC) said 22 000 UN peacekeepers from 58 countries are serving in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. In 2002, the peacekeeping mission in the country recruited its first HIV/AIDS policy advisor. HIV-related activities have been integrated into the operations of the peacekeeping mission, including mandatory HIV training; information, education and communications activities; promotion of male and female condoms; community outreach; voluntary counselling and testing; and post-exposure prophylaxis. As of December 2006, 20 000 peacekeepers have received HIV training, nine tons of condoms have been distributed and peacekeepers assisted in the integration of

UNESCO-produced children's workbooks and teacher guidebooks into schools. The country's vast geographical expanse—nearly the size of Western Europe—makes comprehensive implementation of HIV-related programming quite challenging. Sixmonth rotation of troops increases programmatic burdens, and discussion of AIDS or sex is taboo for troops from certain troop-contributing countries. Capacity limitations of the peacekeeping mission also impede programme implementation.

As the peacekeeping mission is working with a small team to achieve a large HIV-related mandate, it has needed to depend on the support of other stakeholders, including UN partners and NGOs. Experience to date has indicated that peacekeepers can be agents of behavioural change, even though, at the same time, there have been allegations that peacekeepers have been involved in the sexual abuse and exploitation of Congolese women and girls.

According to Professor Mashako Bamba, former Minister of Health, speaking on behalf of the Government, the conflict in the Democratic Republic of the Congo represents a "tsunami every seven months", causing 1200 deaths each day. The crisis has displaced 3.5 million people in a country where 90% of the population lives on less than US\$ 1 dollar per day. The national adult HIV prevalence is 4%, while 18% of sex workers and 20% of victims of sexual violence are living with HIV. The national AIDS response involves a multisectoral programme under the leadership of the Head of State. HIV has been integrated into the Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper, although programme implementation has been insufficient. The continuing presence of foreign armies in the country constitutes an ongoing threat to national stability. The strong engagement of all partners, including UNAIDS, is critical to the country's ability to address HIV in the context of conflict, population mobility and instability. HIV remains underfunded within current support schemes.

Mr James T Morris (Executive Director, World Food Programme) reported that national disasters have increased fourfold over the last 30 years, typically occurring where populations are most vulnerable. He said HIV is a critical consideration in any natural disaster and that proper food and nutrition represents a critical component of a comprehensive AIDS response in emergency situations. He observed that a young girl who goes to school and is well fed is 50% less likely to be infected with HIV.

The PCB recognized the inconsistent integration of AIDS policies and programmes in security and humanitarian responses, and it called on UN Resident and Humanitarian Coordinators, UN Country Teams and UNAIDS Country Coordinators to actively address the AIDS-related needs of emergency-affected populations and uniformed services at country level. The PCB endorsed the continuing efforts of UNAIDS and its partners (including the UN Department of Peacekeeping Operations) to address AIDS within national uniformed services and peacekeeping forces, and it recommended that UNAIDS also address the impact of AIDS on key government cadres other than the military, including the judiciary, police and local government. The PCB called on national governments and international donors to ensure that AIDS is sufficiently accounted for in humanitarian preparedness and response. UNAIDS was requested to develop a strategic framework for action with the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and to pursue membership or formal association with the global-level UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee. Acknowledging the complex links between security, humanitarian emergencies and HIV, the PCB asked UNAIDS to advocate, support and collaborate in further research

in this field. The PCB also stated the need to more forcefully address the link between HIV and gender based violence, both in conflict and otherwise.

Ms Loretta Hieber-Girardet (Senior Advisor on HIV/AIDS, Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs) noted that HIV has been designated as a crosscutting issue for humanitarian operations of the UN system. The International Organization for Migration urged the international community to avoid de-prioritizing countries when they enter the post-conflict phase and to continue including migrants into humanitarian responses.

Dr Piot said the addition of the World Food Programme and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, as Cosponsoring Organization of the Joint Programme, had increased the prominence of the humanitarian response in UNAIDS work. Recognition of AIDS as a security issue dates back to the Security Council in 2000. Security Council Resolution 1308 mandates that all UN peacekeeping missions should include HIV activities, a requirement that has been actively taken up by the Department of Peacekeeping Operations. Dr Piot stressed the importance of addressing gaps in the evidence base and conceptual framework regarding AIDS and security.

7: Any other business

No decision was taken regarding new business. It was observed that the UN General Assembly had adopted a resolution on the international HIV counselling and testing day.

8: Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

The PCB adopted the decisions, recommendations and conclusions of the 19th meeting of the PCB (Annex II). In doing so, the PCB recalled that all aspects of UNAIDS' work are directed by the following guiding principles:

- aligned to national stakeholders' priorities;
- based on the meaningful and measurable involvement of civil society, especially people living with HIV and populations most at risk of HIV infection;
- based on human rights and gender equality;
- based on the best available scientific evidence and technical knowledge; and
- promoting comprehensive responses to AIDS that integration prevention, treatment, care and support.

The Chair informed the PCB that the 20th meeting will take place on 26–27 June 2007 in Geneva. The Chair thanked the Secretariat, the drafting group, translators, delegates and observers, as well as the PCB's Zambian hosts.

The meeting was adjourned.

ANNEX I: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

MEMBERS / MEMBRES I.

Member States - Etats membres

Australia - Australie

H.E. Ms Annmaree O'Keeffe Tel.: +61 2 6206 4002 Ambassador, HIV/AIDS and Fax: +61 2 6206 4857 **Deputy Director General** E-mail:

annmaree.o'keeffe@ausaid.gov.au

AUSAID

62 Northbourne Ave

Canberra ACT 2601, Australia

Mr Geoff Adlide Tel.: +41 22 799 9108 Counsellor (Development) Fax: +41 22 799 9175

Permanent Mission of Australia E-mail: geoff.adlide@dfat.gov.au

2 Chemin des Fins

1211 Geneva 19, Switzerland

Bahamas

Dr Pearl McMillan Tel.: +1 242 502 4841 Senior Medical Officer Fax: +1 242 325 5421 E-mail: pdnetmd@hotmail.com

Department of Planning Ministry of Health & National Insurance

P.O. Box N3730

Corner Shirley and Parliament Street

Nassau, Bahamas

Belgium - Belgique

Tel.: +32 2 501 83 99 S.E. M. Michel Lastschenko Ambassadeur, Envoyé Spécial pour Fax: +32 2 501 35 97 E-mail:

la Lutte contre le SIDA

michel.lastschenko@diplobel.fed.be

Directeur adjoint Cabinet Coopération

Ministère des Affaires étrangères

15 rue des Petits Carmes

B-1000 Bruxelles

Tel.: +32 2 519 0877 Mr Jaak Labeeuw Senior AIDS Programme Officer Fax: +32 2 519 0683 E-mail: jacques.labeeuw@diplobel.fed.be

Federal Public Service Foreign Affairs External Trade and Development Cooperation

Karmelietenstraat 15 B-1000 Brussels

Secretariat of Health Surveillance

Brazil - Brésil

Tel.: +55 61 3448 8001 Ms Mariangela Simão Director Fax: +55 61 3448 8224

National STD and AIDS Programme E-mail: mariangela.simao@aids.gov.br

Ministry of Health - Unit III SEPN 511 - Bloco C - Asa Norte CEP 70750-543 Brasilia DF, Brazil

Mr Carlos André Passarelli Tel.: +55 61 3448 8001 **Deputy Director** Fax: +55 61 3448 8224

Brazil/National STD and AIDS Programme E-mail: carlos.passarelli@aids.gov.br

SEPN 511, Bloco C, 2° Andar 70750-543 Brasilia/DF, Brazil

Cape Verde - Cap Vert

Tel.: +238 261 95 27 Dr Artur Correia **Executive Secretary of AIDS Coordination** Fax: +238 261 85 76 E-mail: ccssida@cvtelecom.cv

Committee CCS-SIDA Avenida Cidade de Lisboa

Prédio Bo Casa 1° Praia, Cape Verde

China – Chine

Mr Qi Qingdong Tel.: +86 10 687 92275 Deputy Director General Fax: +86 10 687 92279 Department of International Cooperation E-mail: qiqd@moh.gov.cn

Ministry of Health 1. Nanlu. Xi Zhimenwai Sicheng District Beijing, China

Mr Han Mengjie Tel.: +86 10 831 57912 **Deputy Director** Fax: +86 10 831 57903 National Centre for AIDS Prevention and Control E-mail: mjhan@chinaids.org.cn

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention

27# Nanwei Lu Xuanwu District Beijing, China 100050

Ms Wang Yunpeng Tel.: +86 10 687 92506 Project Officer Fax: +86 10 687 92279

Ministry of Health 1, Nanlu, Xi Zhimenwai Sicheng District Beijing, China

Congo, Democratic Republic of - République démocratique du Congo

S.E. M. Zacharie Kashongwe Tel.: +243 81 31 78 240

Ministre de la Santé

Kinshasa, Plateau-Cogelos no. 3051 E-mail: zkashongwe@yahoo.fr République démocratique du Congo

Mrs Silvia T. Masebo Acting Minister of Health Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Leonard Mashako Mamba Tel.: +243 81 513 76 19 or 243 997 339

E-mail: wyunpeng@yahoo.com.cn

868

Consultant E-mail: lmashako@yahoo.fr

No. 3B Mont des Arts Quartier Golf Kinshasa-Gombe

République démocratique du Congo

Ms Jaynet D. Kabila Tel.: 1243 81 509 1400/81 509 1500

President of the Foundation Fax: +243 81 301 0854
Foundation Mzee Laurent Désiré Kabila E-mail: jdkabila@hotmail.com

183 boulevard du 30 juin, Commune de la Gombe Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

M. Jean-Pierre Bongo Tel.: +243 81 500 60 62

Président Provincial du PVV, ville de Kinshasa

48 av. Djolu Q. Matonge, C. Kalamu

Democratic Republic of the Congo

M. Georges Engwanda Tel.: +243 09 98 244 608

Président National du Forum SIDA E-mail: georgesengwanda@yahoo.fr

E-mail: bongontuali jps@yahoo.fr

3 av. des Forces armées Kinshasa-Gombe

République démocratique du Congo

Mr Dede Watchiba Tel.: +243 9999 24874/812478003

Conseiller en suivi et évaluation Tel. : +243 81 26

Programme National Multisectoriel contre le SIDA

12 avenue Milambo

Kinshasa, République démocratique du Congo

Mr Jean Lambert Mandjo Tel.: +243 8124 78002

Coordonnateur national a.i.

4 av. Milambo, Q

Basoko

Commune de Ngaliema

Kinshasa, République démocratique du Congo

Astrid Binda E-mail: bindaastrid@yahoo.com

First Secretary

Embassy of the Democratic Republic of the Congo

P.O. Box 31287 Lusaka, Zambia

Mt Tshilomb Joseph Kapend Tel.: +260 1 229 0454
Charge d'Affaires E-mail: jostshikap@yahoo.fr

Embassy of the Democratic Republic

of the Congo

1124 Parirenyatwa Road Fairview

229045 Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Casimir Manzengo E-mail: casimanzengo@yahoo.fr

National Programme Officer 3X5, WHO

Lubumbashi, Democratic Republic of the Congo

Czech Republic - République tchèque

Mr Jaroslav Jedlicka

Tel.: +420 2 6708 2650

National AIDS Programme Manager

Fax: +420 2 6708 2532

National Institute of Public Health

E-mail: jdlckj@szu.cz

Srobarova 48

100 42 Prague 10, Czech Republic

<u>Germany – Allemagne</u>

Mr Franz J. Bindert Tel.: +49 228 941 1200
Deputy Director General for Infectious Disease Fax: +49 228 941 4932

Control and Health Protection E-mail: franz.bindert@bmg.bund.de
Federal Ministry of Health
Am Propsthof 78a
53121 Bonn, Germany

Dr Philo. Ms Julia Katzan

German Technical Cooperation, GmbH (GTZ)

Tulpenfeld 2, Room 204

53113 Bonn, Germany

Tel.: +49 228 209 46 21

Fax: +49 228 985 70 18

E-mail: Julia.katzan@gtz.de

Dr Barbara Wiegand E-mail: Barbara.wiegand@microlink.zm
HIV/AIDS Coordinator
German Technical Cooperation
6469 Kariba Road

Kalundu, Zambia

Ms Daniela Dempf
Tel.: +260 1 250 644
3rd Secretary Development
Fax: +260 1 254 014

German Embassy E-mail: Daniela.dempf@diplo.de
United Nations avenue
Lusaka, Zambia

Grenada - Grenada

H. E. Ms Ann David-Antoine Tel.: +473 440 26 49 or 6549

Minister of Health and Social Security Fax: +473 440 41 27

Ministry of Health

E-mail: min-healthgrenada@caribsurf.com
or min-healthgrenada@spiceisle.com
St George's, Grenada

India - Inde

Dr Jotna Sokhey

Additional Project Director

National AIDS Control Organization

Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

Tel.: +11 233 25 337

Fax: +11 237 31746

E-mail: apd@nacoindia.org

9th floor, Chandralok Building

36 Janpath

New Delhi 110 001, India

<u> Italy – Italie</u>

Mr. Valerio Parmigiani Tel.: +260 1 250 755 First Secretary Fax: +260 1 254 323

Italian Embassy Lusaka E-mail: valerio.parmigiani@esteri.it

P.O. Box 50437 Lusaka, Zambia

Japan – Japon

Dr Soichi Koike Tel.: +81 3 5253 1111 ext. 7292

Deputy Director Fax: +81 3 3501 2532

Internal Affairs Division E-mail: koike-soichi@mhlw.go.jp

Minister's Secretariat

Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare 1-2-2 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo, 100-8916 Japan

Mr Eiji Inui Tel.: +260 1 254 501

JICA expert Fax: +260 1 254 935

Japan Internal Cooperation Agency E-mail: <u>jicazb-gyoumu@jica.go.jp</u>

P.O. Box 30027 Lusaka, Zambia

 Ms Tomoko Zama
 Tel.: +260 1 254501

 JICA Expert
 Fax: +260 1 254 935

Japan International Cooperation Agency E-mail: jicazb-gyoumu@jica.go.jp

Zambia Office P.O. Box 30027 Lusaka, Zambia

Kenya

Professor Alloys Orago

NACC Kenya Acting Director
Tel.: +254 20 250 558
The Chancery Building
Fax: +254 20 271 1072
Box 61307
E-mail: orago@nacc.or.ke

Nairobi, Kenya

Dr Ibrahim Mohamed

Tel.: +254 271 49 72

Head National AIDS/STD Programme

Fax: +254 271 05 18

Ministry of Health

E-mail: kaka@vvdial.zm

Box 19361 Nairobi, Kenya

Ms Josephine Ibrahim E-mail: kaka@uudial.zm

First Secretary

Kenya High Commission

P.O. Box 50298 Lusaka, Kenya

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya – Jamahiriya Arabe Libyenne

Mr Salem Alagili
Tel.: +218 91 211 6107
Head AIDS Scientific Committee
Fax: +218 46 233 29
Ministry of Health
E-mail: salagili@yahoo.com

Tripoli, Lybia

Norway - Norvège

H.E. Mrs Sigrun Møgedal
Ambassador
Fax: +47 22 24 33 87
Fax: +47 22 24 95 80/81
E-mail: simo@mfa.no

P.O. Box 8114 DEP 0032 Oslo, Norway

Ms Anne Grete Riise Tel.: +47 22 24 34 49/47 22 24 36 00

Adviser Fax: +47 22 24 95 80/81 Norwegian Ministry of Foreign affairs E-mail: agr@mfa.no

P.O. Box 8114 DEP 0032 Oslo, Norway

Russian Federation - Fédération de Russie

Ms Zoya Sereda Tel.: +7 499 973 15 77
AIDS Specialist-expert Fax: +7 499 973 15 84
Ministry of Health E-mail: sereda@gsen.ru

Federal Service for Surveillance on Consumer Rights

Protection and Human Well-being Building 18/20, Vadkovskly per Moscow 127994, Russia

Swaziland

Dr Derek Von Wissell Tel.: +268 404 1703 **National Director** Fax: +268 404 7300

National Emergency Response Council E-mail: dvwi@nercha.org.sz

on HIV/AIDS (NERCHA)

P.O. Box 1937

Mbabane, Swaziland H100

Mr Newman Sizwe Tel.: +41 22 799 70/5 Fax: +41 22 799 41 84 Counsellor

Permanent Mission of the Kingdom of Swaziland E-mail: swazimission-

geneva@dslnets.ch Route de Pré-Bois 20 Case Postale 1802

1215 Geneva 15, Switzerland

Sweden - Suède

H.E. Ms Gunilla Carlsson Tel.: +46 8 405 10 00 Minister for International Development Fax: +46 8 723 11 76

Cooperation MFA/UD

SE-103 39 Stockholm, Sweden

H.E. Mr Lennarth Hjelmåker Tel.: +46 8 405 17 01 Ambassador Fax: +46 8 723 11 76

Ministry for Foreign Affairs

Lennarth.hjelmaker@foreign.ministry.se

MFA/UD

SE-103 39 Stockholm, Sweden

Tel.: +260 1 251711 H.E. Lars Ronnås Ambassador of Sweden in Zambia Fax: +260 1 254 049

P.P. Box 50264 Ridgeway E-mail: ambassaden.lusaka@sida.se

E-mail:

E-mail: lena.ekroth@sida.se

10101 Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Bengt Gunnar Herrström Tel.: +46 8 405 54 82 **Deputy Director** Fax: +46 8 723 11 76

Ministry for Foreign Affairs E-mail: bengt-

gunnar.herrstrom@foreign.ministry.se

MFA/UD

SE-103 39 Stockholm, Sweden

Ms Lena Ekroth Tel.: +46 8 698 40 78

Acting Head, HIV/AIDS Secretariat, Sida Valhallavägen 199

SE-105 25 Stockholm, Sweden

Ms Eva-Charlotte Roos

Tel.: +46 8 698 50 00 Desk Officer, HIV/AIDS Secretariat Sida E-mail: eva.charlotte.roos@sida.se

SE-105 25 Stockholm, Sweden

Tel.: +41 22 908 08 33 Ms Annika Molin-Hellgren Counsellor Fax: +41 22 908 08 10

Permanent Mission of Sweden E-mail: annika.molinhellaren@foreian.ministrv.se

Case Postale 190 82 rue de Lausanne 1211 Geneva, Switzerland

Mr Johan Borgstam Tel.: +46 8 405 33 63

Deputy Director Fax: +46 8 723 11 76

Ministry for Foreign Affairs E-mail:

johan.borgstam@foreign.ministry.se

MFA/UD

SE-103 39 Stockholm, Sweden

Mr Mikael Östlund Tel.: +46 8 405 10 00 Press Secretary Fax: +46 8 723 11 76

Ministry for Foreign Affairs E-mail:

mikael.ostlund@foreign.ministry.se SE-103 39 Stockholm, Sweden

Ms Anita Sandström

Tel.: +260 1 25 17 11

Head, Regional HIV/AIDS Team for Africa

Fax: +260 1 25 10 70

Embassy of Sweden E-mail: anita.sandstrom@sida.se

P.O. Box 50264 Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Ulf Källstig

Regional HIV/AIDS Adviser

Regional HIV/AIDS Team for Africa

Tel.: +260 1 25 17 11

Fax: +260 1 25 10 70

E-mail: ulf.kallstig@sida.se

Embassy of Sweden P.O. Box 50264 Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Samuel Egero Tel.: +46 8 698 5000

Head of Division Africa Department

SE-105 25 Stockholm, Sweden

Thailand - Thailande

Dr Suwit Wibulpolprasert Tel.: +662 590 1122/1113 Senior Advisor in Health Economics Fax: +662 591 8513

Office of the Permanent Secretary E-mail: suwit@health.moph.go.th

Ministry of Public Health

Tiwanond Road

Nonthaburi 11000, Thailand

Dr Panumard Yarnwaidsakul Tel.: +66 2 590 3218 Senior Medical Officer Fax: +66 2 590 3218

Department of Disease Control Ministry of Public Health

Tivnon Road

Nonthaburi 11000, Thailand

Dr Sopida Chavanichkul Tel.: +66 2 590 1374
Deputy Director Fax: +66 2 591 8562

Bureau of Policy and Strategy E-mail: schavani@yahoo.com

Office of Permanent Secretary Ministry of Public Health

Tivanond Road

Nonthabiuri 1000, Thailand

Mrs Prangtip Kanchanahattakij

First Secretary

Fax: +41 22 715 1010

Permanent Mission of Thailand

E-mail: prangtipc@mfa.go.th

5 rue Gustave-Moynier CH – 1202 Geneva

<u>United States of America – États-Unis d'Amérique</u>

26

H.E. Mr Jimmy Kolker Tel.: +1 202 663 2706

Deputy US Global AIDS Coordinator Fax: +1 202 663 2979

U.S. Department of State E-mail: kolkerjj@state.gov

SA-29, 2201-C Street NW Washington, DC 20522, USA

Mr Colin McIff
Tel.: +1 202 663 3888

Multilateral Organizations Officer
U.S. Department of State
Fax: +1 202 663 2979

E-mail: mciffcl@state.gov

SA-29, 2201-C Street NW Washington, DC 20522, USA

 Dr Ken Yamashita
 Tel.: +1 202 712 4411

 Director
 Fax: +1 202 216 3409

Office of HIV/AIDS E-mail: kyamashita@usaid.gov

Bureau of Global Health 1300 Pennsylvania Avenue NW

1300 Pennsylvania Avenue NW Washington, DC 20523, USA

Cosponsoring Organizations – Organismes coparrainants

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) - Haut Commissariat des Nations Unies pour les Réfugiés (HCR)

Dr Paul Spiegel Tel.: +41 22 739 8289
Head of HIV Unit Fax: +41 22 739 73 71
94 rue de Montbrillant E-mail: spiegel@unhcr.org

Case Postale 2500

1211 Geneva 2, Switzerland

Dr Gebrewold Petros
UNAIDS Liaison Officer
Fax: +41 22 739 8924
Fax: +41 22 739 7371
F-mail: petros@unhcr.org

Case Postale 2500

1211 Geneva 2, Switzerland

Mr Eusebe Hounsokou Tel.: +81 88 45 615

UNHCR Representative E-mail: hounsoko@unhcr.org

6729 Avenue de l'OUA

Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

- Fonds des Nations Unies pour l'enfance (UNICEF)

Dr Doreen Mulenga Tel.: +1 212 326 7369 Sr Adviser HIV/AIDS Section Fax: +1 212 303 7954

3 UN Plaza E-mail: dmulenga@unicef.org

New York, NY 10017, USA

Dr Thilly De Bodt
Project Officer
Fax: +1 212 326 7453
Fax: +1 212 303 7954
HIV/AIDS Section, Programme Division
E-mail: tdebodt@unicef.org

3 UN Plaza, H-1010 New York, NY 10017, USA

World Food Programme (WFP)

Programme Alimentaire Mondial (PAM)

Mr James T. Morris

Tel.: +39 06 6513 2010

Executive Director

Fax: +39 06 6513 2834

Via Cesare Guilio Viola 68-70

Fax: +39 06 6513 2834

E-mail: james.morris@wfp.org

Parco di Medici 00148 Rome, Italy

Ms Robin Jackson Tel.: +39 06 6513 2562
Chief, HIV/AIDS Service Fax: +39 06 6513 2873
Via Cesare Guilio Viola 68-70 E-mail: robin.jackson@wfp.org

Parco di Medici 00148 Rome, Italy

Mr Imadeldin Osman-Salih Tel.: +39 06 6513 3187 Deputy-Chief, HIV/AIDS Service Fax: +39 06 6513 3212

Via Cesare Guilio Viola 68-70 E-mail: imad.osman-salih@wfp.org

Parco di Medici 00148 Rome, Italy

 Mr Gaurab Tewari
 Tel.: +39 06 6513 3684

 Programme Officer
 Fax: +39 06 6513 3212

HIV/AIDS Service E-maild: gaurab.tewari@wfp.org

Via Cesare Guilio Viola 68-70

Parco di Medici 00148 Rome, Italy

Mr Robert Opp Tel.: +39 06 6513 2146
Assistant to the Executive Director Fax: +39 06 6513 2834
Via Cesare Guilio Viola 68-70 E-mail: robert.opp@wfp.org

Parco di Medici 00148 Rome, Italy

Mr David Stevenson Tel.: +260 1 252 957 or 097 790 824

Country Director and Representative Fax: +260 1 252 955

UN House, Alick Nkhata Road E-mail: david.stevenson@wfp.org

Lusaka, Zambia

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

Programme des Nations Unies pour le développement (PNUD)

Mr Elhadj Amadou Sy
Director, HIV/AIDS Group
304 East 45th Street
New York, NY 10017, USA

Tel.: +1 212 906 6489
Fax: +1 212 906 5023
E-mail: elhadj.sy@undp.org

 Ms Nadia Rasheed
 Tel.: +1 212 906 5052

 Policy Specialist
 Fax: +1 212 906 5023

304 East 45th Street E-mail: nadia.rasheed@undp.org

New York, NY 10017, USA

 Mr Lemma Merid
 Tel.: +27 11 603 5000

 Policy Advisor
 Fax: +27 11 603 5071

RSC-UNDP E-mail: lemma.merid@undp.org

7 Naivasha Rd

Sunninghill 2157, South Africa

New York, NY 10017, USA

Mr Andrea Pastorelli Tel.: +1 212 906 5988

Consultant E-mail: andrea.pastorelli@undp.org

304 East 45th Street

 Mr. Aneas C. Chuma
 Tel.: +260 1 254 417

 Resident Coordinator
 Fax: +260 1 251 201

c/o UNDP Zambia Lusaka, Zambia

United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA)

Fonds des Nations Unies pour la Population (FNUAP)

Mr Steve Kraus
Tel.: +1 212 297 5256
Chief, HIV/AIDS Branch
Fax: +1 212 297 4915
220 East 42nd Street
E-mail: Kraus@unfpa.org

New York, NY 10017, USA

Ms Elizabeth Benomar
Tel.: +1 212 297 5249
Technical Adviser
Fax: +1 212 297 4915
220 East 42nd St.
E-mail: benomar@unfpa.org

New York, NY 10017, USA

Ms Agathe Lawson

RDT Manager

Fax: +27 11 517 1672

Fax: +27 11 517 16 31

11 Naivasha Road

E-mail: lawson@unfpa.org

2157 Sunninghill

Johannesburg, South Africa

Mr Deji Popoola

Representative

UN Building, Alick Nikhata Rd

Tel.: +260 1 256 383

Fax: +260 1 254 421

E-mail: popoola@unfpa.org

P.O. Box 31966 Lusaka, Zambia

Ms Sanata Diallo

NPO VIH/SIDA

Fax: +227 20 72 29 80

Fax: +227 20 72 33 64

428 Avenue du Fleuve Niger

E-mail: sdiallo@unfpa.org

B.P. 11207 Niamey, Niger

Mr Zahidul A. Huque Tel.: +62 21 390 7121 HP: 11223506

Chair, UN Joint AIDS Team Fax: +62 21 319 27902

Menara Thamrin, 7th floor E-mail: huque@unfpa.org

Jakarta, Indonesia

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC)

Office des Nations Unies Contre la Drogue et le Crime (ONUDC)

 Mr Christian Kroll
 Tel.: +43 1 260 60 5143

 Global Coordinator
 Fax: +43 1 260 60 75143

P.O. Box 500 E-mail: christian.kroll@unodc.org

A-1400 Vienna, Austria

Ms Monica Beg Tel.: +43 1 260 60 4662
HIV/AIDS Focal Point, Adviser Fax: +43 1 260 60 74662
P.O. Box 500 E-mail: monica.beg@unodc.org

A-1400 Vienna, Austria

International Labour Office (ILO)

- Bureau International du Travail (BIT)

Mr Assane Diop

Executive Director, Social Protection Sector
4 route des Morillons

Tel.: +41 22 799 61 40

Fax: +41 22 799 61 57

E-mail: diop@ilo.org

1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland

Dr Sophia Kisting Tel.: +41 22 799 6297

Director, ILO/AIDS Fax: +41 22 799 6349 4 route des Morillons E-mail: kisting@ilo.org

1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland

Ms Susan Leather Tel.: +41 22 799 6859 UNAIDS Focal Point (a.i.) Fax: +41 22 799 6349 4 route des Morillons E-mail: leather@ilo.org

1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland

Mr Gerry Finnegan

Representative Zambia, Malawi and Mozambique

Tel.: +260 1 228 071

E-mail: Finnegan@ilo.org

P.O. Box 32181 Lusaka, Zambia

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'éducation, la science et la culture (UNESCO)

Mr Mark Richmond Tel.: +33 1 45 68 14 38
Director a.i., Coordination of UN Priorities Fax: +33 1 45 68 55 16

UNESCO Global Coordinator for HIV and AIDS a.i. E-mail: m.richmond@unesco.org

7 Place de Fontenoy F – 75352 Paris 07 SP

Mr Christopher Castle

Tel.: +33 1 45 68 09 71

Chief, Section on HIV and AIDS

Division for the Coordination of UN Priorities

Tel.: +33 1 45 68 09 71

Fax: +33 1 45 68 55 16

E-mail: c.castle@unesco.org

in Education

UNESCO Focal Point for HIV and AIDS

7 Place de Fontenoy F – 75352 Paris 07 SP

World Health Organization (WHO)

Organisation mondiale de la Santé (OMS)

Dr Teguest Guerma
Tel.: +41 22 791 1026
Associate Director of HIV Department
Fax: +41 22 791 1575
20, avenue Appia
E-mail: guermat@who.int

1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland

Dr Stella Anyangwe Tel.: +260 1 255-322, 255-336, 256-251

WHO Representative in Zambia Fax: +260 1 252-863, 256-251 WHO, Andrew Mwenya/Beit Rds, Mobile: +260 97 771 270

P.O. Box 32346 E-mail: anyangwes@zm.afro.who.int

Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Kerry Kutch
External Relations Officer
Fax: +41 22 791 2191
Fax: +41 22 791 4834
World Health Organization
E-mail: kutchk@who.int

20 avenue Appia

1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland

 Dr Sansan Myint
 Tel.: +260 1 255 322

 HIV Country Officer
 Fax: +260 1 252 863

Box 32346 E-mail: nyints@zm.afro.who.int

Lusaka, Zambia

The World Bank - Banque mondiale

Dr Debrework Zewdie Tel.: +1 202 473 9414 Director Fax: +1 202 522 1252

Global HIV/AIDS Program E-mail: dzewdie@worlbank.org

Humand Development Network 1818 H Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20433, USA

Ms Elizabeth Mziray Tel.: +1 202 458 7036 **OperationsOfficer** Tel.: +1 202 614 0240

Global HIV/AIDS Program E-mail: emziray@worldbank.org

Human Development Network

1818 H Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20433, USA

Mr Ohene Owusu Nyanin Tel.: +260 1 254 278 Country Manager Fax: +260 1 254 283

P.O. Box 35410 E-mail: onyanin@worldbank.org

Lusaka, Zambia

Dr Musonda Rosemary Sunkutu Tel.: +260 1 252 811 Senior Health, Nutrition and Fax: +260 1 254 283 E-mail: rsunkutu@worldbank.org

Population Specialist P.O. Box 35410

Kusaka, Zambia

Representatives of Nongovernmental Organizations/People Living with HIV/AIDS - Représentants des Organisations non gouvernementales/Personnes vivant avec le VIH/SIDA

Africa - Afrique

Ms Mary Vuningoma Balikungeri Tel.: +250 58 36 62 Fax: +250 58 36 62 Director

Rwanda Women's Network E-mail: rwawnet@rwanda1.com

P.O. Box 3157 Kigali, Rwanda

Asia and Pacific - Asie et Pacifique

Tel.: +86 10 632 96 911 Ms Rachel Ong Advisor Fax: +86 10 632 96 911

Asia Pacific Network E-mail: rachel.ong.pcb@gmail.com

of People Living with HIV/AIDS

c/o UNAIDS Office

1-162 Tayuan Diplomatic Office Building 14 Liangmahe Nanlu, Dongwai Dajie

Beijing 100600, China

Mr Bhawani Shanker Kusum Tel.: +91 141 253 1242 Secretary and Executive Director Fax: +91 141 253 719

Gram Bharati Samiti (GSB) E-mail: gbsbsk@sancharnet.in

Amber Bhawan Amber 303 101 Jaipur, India

Europe

Tel.: +351 966 591 751 Mr Paulo Vieira PCB NGO. Alternate for Europe Fax: +351 214 905 427 European Youth Network on Sexual and E-mail: paulojvieira@gmail.com

Repoductive Rights - YouAct

Estrada Militar no. 12

Venda Nova

2700 Amadora, Portugal

<u>Latin America/Caribbean – Amérique Latine/ Caraïbes</u>

 Ms Sandra Regina Batista
 Tel.: +55 41 8858 6315

 PCB NGO Alternate
 Fax: +55 41 3336 3446

Latin American Harm Reduction Network sandrabatista@grupohumanar.com.br

Padre Anchieta 1007/31

Curitiba

Brazil 80120-240

North America - Amérique du Nord

Mr T. Richard Corcoran Tel.: +1 917 548 9595 Health Global Access Project (Health GAP) Fax: +1 718 522 9036

168 7th St., #2E E-mail: trc_healthgap@msn.com

E-mail:

Brooklyn, NY 11215, USA

Mr Michael O'Connor Tel.: +613 233 7440 Executive Director Fax: +613 233 8361

Interagency Coalition on AIDS and Development E-mail: moconnor@icad-cisd.com

1 Nicholas Street # 726 Ottawa ON K1N 7B7, Canada

II. OBSERVERS - OBSERVATEURS

Member States - Etats membres

Cambodia

H.E. Dr Kunthy Teng

Secretary General

National AIDS Authority

Tel.: +855 23 885 129

Fax: +855 23 884 910

E-mail: kunthy@naa.org.kh

No. 226-232 Kampuchea Krom Blvd

7 Makara

Phnom Penh, Cambodia

Dr Lina Ngin
Chief of Policy Planning Monitoring and Evaluation
National AIDS Authority

Tel.: +855 23 885 129
Fax: +855 23 884 910
E-mail: lina@naa.org.kh

No. 226-232 Kampuchea Krom Blvd,

Mitaheap, 7 Makara Phnom Penh, Cambodia

Canada

 Mr Montasser Kamal
 Tel.: +1 819 994 3938

 Manager
 Fax: +1 819 997 6632

Multilateral Health E-mail: montasser_kamal@acdi-cida.gc.ca

Institutional Global Programs

Canadian International Development Agency

200 Promenade du Portage

Gatineau, Québec, Canada K1A OG4

Mr Christopher Armstrong Tel.: +1 819 934 4245

Team Leader HIV/AIDS E-mail: Christopher-armstrong@acdi-cida.gc.ca

Canadian International Development Agency

200 Promenade du Portage

Gatineau, Québec, Canada K1A OG4

Ms Marita Killen Tel.: +1 613 941 4765
Policy Advisor, HIV/AIDS Fax: +1 613 957 4195

International Health Division E-mail: marita_killen@hc-sc.gc.ca

E-mail: valerie.percival@international.gc.ca

E-mail: majhes@um.dk and gvamis@um.dk

International Affairs Directorate

Health Canada

200 Eglantine Driveway Tunney's Pasture, A.L.1903B

Ottawa, ON KIAOK9, Canada

Ms Valerie Percival Tel.: +1 613 944 2499 Senior Advisor, Health Fax: +1 613 943 0606

Department of Foreign Affairs and

International Trade 125 Sussex Dr.

Ottawa, Ontario KIA OGZ, Canada

Denmark - Danemark

Ms Maj Hessel Tel.: +41 22 918 00 47 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 918 00 66

Permanent Mission of Denmark

56 rue de Moillebeau

CH - 1209 Geneva, Switzerland

Egypt

Mr Tamer Sarad Mansour Tel.: +260 1 250 229 Egyptian Ambassador to Zambia Fax: +260 1 252 213

Egyptian Embassy E-mail: tamaraokaha@hotmail.com

5204 United Nations Avenue

Lusaka, Zambia

Mr. Ihab Ahmed Tel.: +202 792 4138
Director of the First U.S. Technical Office Fax: +202 792 4156

Ministry of Health and Population E-mail: dr.ehab@hotmail.com

Egypt

Finland - Finlande

Ms Heli Mikkola
Tel.: +358 50 304 8156
HIV/AIDS Adviser
Fax: +358 91 605 6100
Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland
E-maiil: heli.mikkola@formin.fi

Willistry for Foreign Analis of Finlar

Katajanokanlaituri 3 00161 Helsinki, Finland

France

S.E. M. Francis Saudubray

Tel.: +260 1 25 13 22/40

Ambassadeur

Fax: +260 1 25 44 75

Ambassade de France en Zambie E-mail :

francis.saudubray@diplomatie.gouv.fr 74 Independence Avenue

Lusaka, Zambia

M. Jean-Louis Riddell

Tel.: +260 1 25 13 22

Premier Conseiller

Fax: +260 1 25 44 75

E-mail:

Ambassade de France en Zambie jean.louis.riddell@diplomatie.gouv.fr

74 Independence Avenue

Lusaka, Zambia

Dr Jean-François Donnard Tel.: +254 736 81 25 25/ 254 20 31 63 63

Senior Regional Health Adviser, East Africa Fax: +254 20 21 17 35

French Embassy E-mail: French.healthadviser@yahoo.fr

P.O. Box 41784 Nairobi, Kenya

 Mr Eric Sattin
 Tel.: +260 1 25 16 88

 Médecin – NAC Director's Adviser
 Fax: +260 1 25 44 75

French Embassy Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Gregory Queyriaux E-mail: Gregory.queyriaux@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Chargé de Mission French Embassy Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Yoan Coiffard Tel.: +260 1 99 86 26 34

Cultural Attaché French Embassy Lusaka, Zambia

Holy See - Saint-Siège

 Ms Giuli Amerio
 Tel.: +260 1 250 786

 Member of Delegation
 Fax: +260 1 250 601

Apostolic Nunciature in Zambia E-mail: nuntius@coppernet.zm

Los Angeles Blvd 283 P.O. Box 31445 10101 Lusaka, Zambia

Ms Maria Mercedes Rossi Tel.: +260 1 250 786
Member of Delegation Fax: +260 1 250 601

Apostolic Nunciature in Zambia E-mail: nuntius@coppernet.zm

Los Angeles Blvd 283 P.O. Box 31445 10101 Lusaka, Zambia

Honduras

 Dr Elias Lizardo
 Tel.: +504 440 0530

 Former Minister
 Fax: +504 441 5357

Ministry of Health E-mail: saludhonduras@yahoo.com

San Pedro Sula, Honduras

Ireland - Irlande

Ms Nicola Brennan Tel.: +353 1 408 2991 HIV/AIDS Adviser Fax: +353 1 408 2884

Irish AID E-mail: Nicola.brennan@dfa.ie

Bishop's Square, Redmond Hill

Dublin 2, Ireland

Ms Anne Anamela Tel.: +27 12 342 5062

Regional HIV/AIDS Adviser E-mail: anne.anamela@dfa.ie

Embassy of Ireland

Johannesburg, South Africa

Ms Bronagh Carr **Development Specialist**

Irish AID E-mail: bronagh.carr@dfa.ie

Embassy of Ireland Lusaka, Zambia

Luxembourg

Dr Robert Hemmer Tel.: +352 4411 3091 Chef du Service National des Maladies Infectieuses Fax: +352 44 1279

Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg E-mail: hemmer.roert@chl.lu

4 rue Barble

L - 1210 Luxembourg

Malawi

Dr Biswick Mwale Tel.: +265 177 00 22 **Executive Director** Fax: +265 177 6249

National AIDS Commission E-mail: mwaleb@aids.malawi.org.mw

P.O. Box 30622 Lilongwe, Malawi

Mozambique

Mr Diogo Milagre Silvestre Mate Tel.: +21 495 604 15 **Deputy Executive Secretary** Fax: +21 495 603

National AIDS Council E-mail: diogo.milagre@cncs.org.mz

Rua António Bocarro 16/114

Maputo, Mozambique

The Netherlands - Pays-Bas

H. E. Mr Paul Bekkers Tel.: +31 70 34 85 245 AIDS Ambassador Fax: +31 70 34 85 366

Ministry of Foreign Affairs E-mail: paul.bekkers@minbuza.nl

P.O. Box 20061

2500EB The Hague, The Netherlands

Mrs Els Klinkert Tel.: +31 70 34 84 376 Senior Adviser HIV/AIDS Fax: +31 70 34 85 366

E-maiL: els.klinkert@minbuza.nl Ministry of Foreign Affairs, DGIS

P.O. Box 20061

2500EB The Hague, The Netherlands

Mrs Henriëtte van Gulik Tel.: +31 70 34 85 832 Policy Adviser Fax: +31 70 34 86 167

UN Department E-mail: henriette-van.gulik@minbuza.nl

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

P.O. Box 20061

2500 EB The Hague, The Netherlands

Tel.: +41 22 748 18 12 Ms Naroesha Jagessar Health Attaché Fax: +41 22 748 18 18

Permanent Mission of the Netherlands E-mail: naroesha.jagessar@minbuza.nl

31-33 avenue Giuseppe-Motta

Case postale 196

1202 Geneva, Switzerland

Rwanda

Mr Richard Nivonkuru Tel.: +250 086 799879 Policy Advisor for Integration and Research Fax: +250 503 979

National AIDS Control Council (CNLS) E-mail: niyo_richard@yahoo.fr

B.P. 7162 Kigali, Rwanda

Switzerland - Suisse

Tel.: +41 31 322 34 59 Ms Elena Manfrina Programme Officer Fax: +41 31 324 13 47

E-mail: elena.manfrina@deza.admin.ch Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation

Swiss Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Freiburgstrasse 130 3003 Bern, Switzerland

Tanzania

Ms Asha Abdulla Tel.: +255 773 048071 **Executive Director** Fax: +255 24 223 11 52

Zanzibar AIDS Commission E-mail: asha.abdulla@zanlink.com

P.O. Box 2820 Zanzibar, Tanzania

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland - Royaume Uni de Grande-Bretagne et d'Irlande du Nord

Ms Angela Spilsbury Tel.: +44 1355 843 301 Health Adviser and Institutional Manager UNAIDS Fax: +44 7823 532 997

E-mail: a-spilsbury@dfid.gov.uk **UK Department for International Development**

Abercrombie House Eaglesham Road Glasgow, UK

Mr Jerry Ash Tel.: +44 20 70230928 Deputy Team Leader Fax: +44 20 7023 0428 DFID/UK E-mail: j-ash@dfid.gov.uk

1 Palace Street

London SWE 5HE, UK

Zambia – Zambie

Mrs. Silvia T. Masebo Acting Minister of Health Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia

Hon. Felix Lwipa Puma Tel.: +260 1 251 373 Deputy Minister of Health Fax: +260 1 253 963

Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia

The Right Reverend David Njovu Tel.: +260 1 264 515 The Bishop of Lusaka Fax: +260 1 262 379

The Anglican Communion E-mail: angdiolu@zamnet.zm

Bishops Lodge P.O. Box 30183 Lusaka, Zambia

Tel.: +260 1 252 989 Dr Simon K. Miti

Permanent Secretary Ministry of Helath Lusaka, Zambia	Fax: +260 1 253 344
Mr Emmanuel Ngulube Ag. Permanent Secretary Ministry of Finance Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 250 657 Fax: +260 1 254 335
Ms Lillian Kapulu Permanent Secretary Ministry of Education Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 253 594 Fax: +260 1 250 760
Mrs Christina M. Lambart Permanent Secretary Ministry of Foreign Affairs Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 253 508 Fax: +260 1 250 080
Dr Ben Chirwa Director General National AIDS Council Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 252 989 Fax: +260 1 253 344
Mr Davies Chimfwembe Diector Planning & Development Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 253 026 Fax: +260 1 253 026
Dr Victor Mukonka Director, Public Health Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 252 989 Fax: +260 1 253 344
Dr Simpungwe Director, Clinical Care Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 252 989 Fax: +260 1 253 344
Dr Velepi Mtonga Director, Technical Support Services Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 252 989 Fax: +260 1 253 344
Ms Elizabeth Mataka Executive Director ZNAN, Ministry of Health Lusaka, Zambia	Tel.: +260 1 252 989 Fax: +260 1 254 344
Mr Alfonso Zulu First Secretary Permanent Mission of Zambia in Geneva 17-19 Ch. Du Champ d'Anier 1209 Geneva, Switzerland	Tel.: +41 22 788 5330 Fax: +41 22 788 5340 E-mail: <u>katendazulu@yahoo.com</u>

Ms Constance Njovu Tel.: +260 1 262 379 Health Worker Lusaka Diocese Fax: +260 1 262 379

The Anglican Communion E-mail: angdiolu@zamnet.zm

Bishops Lodge P.O. Box 30183 Lusaka, Zambia

 Mr. Samuel Banda
 Tel.: +260 1 252 666

 HIV/AIDS Specialist
 Fax: +260 1 250 240

Ministry of Foreign Affairs E-mail: samuelebanda@yahoo.com

Chater House, Box 50069 Lusaka

Ms. Betty Moonga Musonda Tel.: +260 1 252 666 Human Resource Development Officer Fax: +260 1 250 240

Ministry of Foreign Affairs E-mail: bettymusonda@yahoo.com

Chater House, Box 50069 Lusaka

 Mr Frank Mumba
 Tel.: +260 1 252 666

 Economist
 Fax: +260 1 250 240

Ministry of Foreign Affairs E-mail: borengnlsu@zamtel.zm

P.O. Box 50069 Lusaka, Zambia

Ms Justine Mwunga Tel.: +260 1 255 044

Donor Coordinator E-mail: jmwunga@nacsec.org.zm

National AIDS Council (Zambia) Box 38718, Lusaka, Zambia

International Organizations - Organisations internationales

Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO)

 Mr Cheikh Diagne
 Tel.: +243 818 90 6580

 HIV/AIDS Policy Adviser
 Cell: +243 818 90 7448

 DPKO/MONUC
 Fax: +243 818 90 6385

 MONUC HQ, BCBD
 E-mail: diagne1@un.org

8811 Gombe

12 avenue des Aviateurs

Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

Food and Agriculture Organization

- Organisation des Nations Unies pour lÁlimentation et l'Ágriculture

Dr Noureddin Mona Tel.: +260 1 252 277/252558

Country Representative Fax: +260 1 254 173

P.O. Box 30563 E-mail: noureddin.mona@fao.org

Lusaka, Zambia

 Ms Saskia Husken
 Tel.: +260 1 252277

 Programme Officer
 Fax: +260 1 254 173

P.O. Box 30503 E-mail: saskia.husken@fao.org.zm

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

- Fonds Mondial de lutte contre le SIDA, la tuberculose et le paludisme

Mr Duncan Earle Tel.: +41 22 791 1779
Team Leader, OPCS Fax: +41 22 791 1701

Chemin de Blandonnet 8 E-mail: <u>Duncan.earle@theglobalfund.org</u>

1214 Vernier, Switzerland

Dr Nosakhare Orobaton Tel.: +41 22 791 1720 Director of Operations Fax: +41 22 791 1701

Chemin de Blandonnet 8 E-mail:

nosa.orobaton@theglobalfund.org

1214 Vernier, Switzerland

Mr Edward Greene Tel.: +41 79 251 7355 Fund Portfolio Manager Fax: +41 22 791 1701

Chemin de Blandonnet 8 E-mail:

Edward.greene@theglobalfund.org

1214 Vernier, Switzerland

Mr. Amos Njaramba Tel: + 260 1 228 810 Senior Manager Fax: +260 1 220 768

PricewaterhouseCoopers- GF LFA E-mail: amos.njaramba@zm.pwc.com

P.O. Box 30942 Lusaka, Zambia

International Federation of Red Cross & Red Crescent Societies

<u>Fédération Internationale des Sociétés de la Croix-Rouge et du Croissant-Rouge</u>

Mr Mukesh Kapila Tel.: +41 22 730 42 22 Special Representative Fax: +41 22 733 03 95

of the Secretary General E-mail: mukesh.kapila@ifrc.org

17, Chemin des Crêts Petit-Saconnex P.O. Box 372 1211 Geneva, Switzerland

Mr Patrick Couteau Tel. : +263 4 705 166 / 7 Health and Care Adviser Fax : + 263 4 708 784

Global Program on HIV and AIDS E-mail: Patrick.couteau@ifrc.org

42 Bates Street Milton Park Harare, Zimbabwe

Mr Moses Simuyemba Tel.: +260 1 253 661/254 074 Health Programme Coordinator Fax: +260 1 252 219/251599

Zambia Red Cross Society E-mail: mosessimuyemba@yahoo.co.uk

Box 50001 Ridgeway 15101 Lusaka, Zambia

International Organization for Migration

Organisation internationale pour les migrations

Ms Barbara Rijks

Project Manager

826 Government Ave

Tel.: +27 12 342 2789

Fax: +27 12 342 0932

E-mail: brijks@iom.int

Pretoria, South Africa

Ms Annie Lane Tel. +260 1 254 055
Intern E-mail: alane@iom.int

Plot 4624, Rhodes Park

Mr Moffat Ng´ombe
Tel.: +260 1 25 40 55
HIV/AIDS Field Coordinator
Fax: +260 1 25 38 56
Mwimena Rd, Plot 4624, Rhodes Park
E-mail: mngombe@iom.int

Lusaka, Zambia

Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

- Bureau de la Coordination des Affaires Humanitaires

Ms Loretta Hieber-Girardet Tel.: +41 22 917 28 53 Senior Advisor on HIV/AIDS Fax: +41 22 917 00 20

Policy Development Section E-mail: hieber-girardet@un.org

Palais des Nations

1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland

UNITAID

Ms Carol Nawina Nyirenda Tel.: +260 1 236 278

Alternate Board Member E-mail : <u>carolnawina@yahoo.com</u>

WHO Secretariat 20 avenue Appia

1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland

Nongovernmental Organizations – Organisations non gouvernementales

African Council of AIDS Service Organizations (AFRICASO)

Dr Cheick Tidiane Tall Tel.: +221 867 3533 or 569 8368

Executive Director Fax: +221 867 3534
9513 Sacré Coeur III Famil: cttall@africaso.net

B.P. 28366 Dakar Médina

Dakar, Sénégal

African Network of Religious Leaders Living with or Personally Affected by HIV and AIDS

(Anerela +)

Mr Hendrix Dzama Tel.: +27 11 482 91 01
Programs Manager Fax: +27 11 482 91 07

5th floor, JCC House E-mail:

hdzama@yahoo.com/info@anarela.org

27 Owl Street, Milpark

Johannesburg 2006, South Africa

Ms Regina Molokomme Tel.: +27 11 482 91 01
National Coordinator Fax: +27 11 482 91 07
SANERELA+ (South African Network) E-mail: info@anerela.org

5th floor, JCC House 27 Owl Street, Milpark

Johannesburg 2006, South Africa

Ms Edith Lengwe Tel.: +260 128 9087 National Coordinator Fax: +260 128 9295

Zanarella + (Zambian Network) E-mail: edithlengwe@yahoo.com

c/o SAT Offices Box 37560

African Youth and Adolescent Network
On Population and Development (AfriYAN)

 Mr Edford Gandu Mutuma
 Tel.: +260 977 11 744

 Chairperson
 Fax: +260 125 44 21

8th Floor Findeco E-mil: emutuma@gmail.com

P.O. Box 37709 House Cairo Road Lusaka, Zambia

Association of African Universities

Mr Ransford Bekoe Tel.: +233 21 774495/761588
African Universities House Mobile: +233 244 736280
Aviation Road Extension E-mail: ransford@aau.org

Airport Residential Area P.O. Box AN 5744

Accra North, Ghana

Mr Justin Wane

African Universities House

Aviation Road Extension

Tel.: +233 21 761588 /774495

Mobile+ 233 242 54 54 34

E-mail: jwane@aau.org

Airport Residential Area P.O. Box AN 5744 Accra North, Ghana

Bolivian Network of PLWHAs

Ms Gracia Violeta Ross Quiroga Tel. +591 706 780 41

National Chair REDBOL

Nicolas Acosta 633 E-mail: Graciavioleta@gmail.com, or

La Paz, Bolivia violetitaross@hotmail.com

Cameroon Network of Associations of PLWHA (Cameroon/RéCAP +)

Mr James Clovis Kayo

Tel.: +237 745 47 12
Chief Projects Unit

Fax: +237 200 3270

P.O. Box 3206 E-mail: jamesckayo@yahoo.fr

Yaoundé-Messa, Cameroon

Catholic Relief Services

Dr Carl Stecker

Tel.: +1 410 951 7464

Senior Technical Advisor for HIV & AIDS

209 W Fayette Street

Tel.: +1 410 951 7464

Fax: +1 410 234 3178

E-mail: cstecker@crs.org

Baltimore, Maryland 21201, USA

Centre for Infectious Disease Research in Zambia

Ms Ida Mukuka Tel.: +260 96 766149
Community Coordinator Fax: +260 1 293 766
Plot 5978, Mwembeshi Road E-mail: ida@cidrz.org

Box 34681, Northmead, Zambia

Ms Cheba Chakulya

Senior Administrative Assistant

Plot 1275, Lubuto Road

Tel.: +260 96 807080

Fax: +260 1 293 766

E-mail: cheba@cidrz.org

Rods Park

Box 34681, Lusaka, Zambia

Churches Health Association of Zambia (CHAZ)

Dr Godfrey Biemba Tel.: +260 1 23 73 28/22 97 02

Executive Director Fax: +260 1 22 32 97

Plot No. 9306 Ben Bella Road E-mail: godfrey.biemba@chaz.org.zm

P.O. Box 34511 Lusaka, Zambia

Clinton Foundation

Ms Kanika Bahl Tel.: +260 1 201 534

Africa Director E-mail: kbahl@clintonfoundation.org

#6 Mwatusanga Lusaka, Zambia

COLFADHEMA

Ms Annie Atibu Faray

Tel.: +243 9999 28 772

Présidente nationale

Tel.: +243 9999 28 772

E-mail: anniefaray@yahoo.fr

No. 79 avenue de Cliniques

Gombe, Democratic Republic of the Congo

Concern Worldwide – Tanzania Tel.: +255 22 2700

327/2700318/2700679

Mr Abdallah Jaffary Mwinchande Fax: +255 22 2700 318

National HIV and AIDS Programme Coordinator E-mail: <u>ajaffary44@hotmail.com</u>;

Dar-es-Salaam, Tanzania <u>abdallah.jaffery@concern.ne</u>

Elizabeth Glaser Pediatric AIDS Foundation

Ms Rose Zambezi Tel.: +260 97 505 779

Technical Adviser E-mail: rzambezi@yahoo.com;

2B Zimbabwe Rd, Rhodes Park <u>rzambezi@pedaids.org</u>

Lusaka, Zambia

The Ford Foundation

Mr Jacob Gayle Tel.: +1 212 573 5050
Deputy Vice President Fax: +1 212 351 3530

320 East 43rd Street E-mail: j.gayle@fordfound.org

New York, NY 10017, USA

Forum for Youth Organizations in Zambia (FYOZ)

Mr Beck Banda E-mail: youthforumzambia@yahoo.com

National Chairperson

P.O. Box 169 Chawama

Lusaka, Zambia

Ms Rachel Smith

Organizational Development Advisor

Ms Hannah Ward

Resource Mobilisation Advisor

HelpAge International

Mr Douglas Lackey Tel.: +254 2 4444 289
Regional Advocacy Manager Fax: +254 2 4444 1052

Africa Regional Development Centre E-mail: dlackey@helpage.co.ke

No. 3 Lenny Court Lower Kabete Road Nairobi, Kenya

Ms Malindi Roselyne Mabasa Tel.: 031 332 6853
Head of Services/MUSA Fax: +031 332 6516
P.O. Box 10070 Marine Parade 4056 E-mail: msfta@saol.com

South Africa

HLSP

Ms Clare Dickinson Tel.: +44 207 283 5064 HIV/AIDS Specialist Fax: +44 207 251 95 52

5-23 Old Street E-mail: clare.dickinson@hlsp.org

London EC1V 9HL, United Kingdom

Human Rights Foundation (HRF) Zambia

Mr Paul Zulu Tel.: +260 95 462104

Executive Director E-mail: paulzulunissi@yahoo.com

P.O. Box 374 69 Lusaka, Zambia

The Humsafar Trust

Mr Ashok Row Kavi Tel.: +91 22 266 50 547/91 22 266 7800

Chairperson Fax: +91 22 266 7800 2nd floor, Vakola Old municipal Bldg E-mail: humsafar@vsnl.com

Santacruz (E),

Mumbai 400054, India

International AIDS Society

Dr Jacqueline Bataringaya Tel.: +41 22 710 0800 Policy Advocacy Advisor Fax: +41 22 710 0899

Chemin de l'Avanchet 33 E-mail:

<u>Jacqueline.bataringaya@iasociety.org</u> CH 1216 Cointrin-Geneva, Switzerland

International Council of AIDS Service Organizations (ICASO)

Mr Kieran Daly Tel.: +1 416 921 0018 extension 21

Director, Policy and Communications Fax: +1 416 921 9979 65 Wellesely St. E., Suite 403 E-mail: kierand@icaso.org

Toronto, ON, Canada M4Y 1G7

INERELA (International Network of Religious Leaders Living with or Personally Affected

by HIV and AIDS)

Rev. James Michael Matarazzo, Jr. Tel.: +1 617 451 6726, extension 9

Regional Coordinator for the Americas Fax: +1 617 451 1795

INERALA + E-mail: jim@interfaithconsulting.com

c/o Interfaith Consulting Group, LLC

99 Bedford Street, 2nd floor Boston, MA 02111, USA

International HIV/AIDS Alliance

Ms Michelle Evans Tel.: +44 1273 718 739 / 900 Africa Regional Programme Manager Fax: +44 1273 718 901

Queensberry House E-mail: mevans@aidsalliance.org

104-106 Queens Road Brighton BN1 3XF, UK

Dr Abdelkader Bacha Tel.: +44 1273 718900
Policy Director Fax: +44 1273 718901

Queensberry House E-mail: abacha@aidsalliance.org

104-106 Queens Road Brighton BN1 3XF, UK

Mr Baba Goumbala Tel.: 44 1273 718900 Regional Representative: Africa Fax: +44 1273 718901

Queensberry House E-mail: bgoumbala@aidsalliance.org

104-106 Queens Road Brighton BN1 3XF, UK

International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease

Mr Panganai Dhliwayo Tel.: +263 4 305 077/263 11 404 851

Tuberculosis Consultant Fax: +263 4 305 077

P.O. Box BE 1246 Belvedere E-mail: pdhliwayo@iuatld.org

Harare, Zimbabwe

International Women's Health Coalition

Ms Zonibel Woods

Senior Advisor, International Policy
333 Seventh avenue, 6th floor

New York, NY 10001,

Tel.: +1 212 979 8500

Fax: +1 212 979 9009

E-mail: zwoods@iwhc.org
or zonnyw@yahoo.co.uk

USA

Jesuit Centre for Theological Reflection

Mr Michael Kelly Tel.: +260 1 291 606
Professor Fax: +260 1 293 763

5880 Gt East Road E-mail: mjkelly@jesuits.org.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Peter J. Henriot Tel.: +260 1 290 410
Director Fax: +260 1 290 759

P.O. Box 37774 E-mail: phenriot@jesuits.org.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

John Laing Community Home Based Care (HBC)

Ms Getrude Bweembelo Tel.: +260 95 75 78 75/97 75 79 97

Accountant

John Laing Community Home based Care E-mail: johnlainghbc@yahoo.com

PIB FW 293 Lusaka, Zambia

Ms Annie Katyamba Tel.: +260 97 75 79 97

John Laing Community Home based Care E-mail: johnlainghbc@yahoo.com

PIB FW 293 Lusaka, Zambia

Joint Clinical Research Centre

Dr Moses Nganga Mutebi
Tel.: +256 772 497223
Knowledge Hub Coordinator
P.O. Box 10005
E-mail: mutebim@jcrc.co.ug
or mmutebi55@yahoo.com
Kampala, Uganda

Journalists against AIDS

Ms Olayide Akanni Tel.: +234 9 672 1744

Acting Executive Director E-mail: olayide@nigeria-aids.org or

Media Resource Centre on HIV/AIDS jaaidsng@nigeria-aids.org

44 Ijaye Road Ogba Lagos, Nigeria

Lagos office: Tel.: +234 1 7731457/8128565
44B Ijaye Road E-mail: jaaidsng@nigeria-aids.org

Ogba Lagos

Kara Counselling and Training Trust

Mr. John Imbwal Tel.: +260 1 229 847 / +260 097 777 732

Executive Director Fax: +260 1 229 848
P.O. Box 37559 E-mail: kara@zamnet.zm
Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Shambulo Kabangu Tel.: +260 1 229 847 Monitoring System Specialist Fax: +260 1 229 848

Box 37559. Lusaka, Zambia E-mail: skabangu@kara.org

Khmer HIV/AIDS NGO Alliance (KHANA)

Dr Sopheap Oum Tel.: +855 12 349 635 Executive Director Fax: +855 23 214 049

c/o UNAIDS Cambodia E-mail: osopheap@khana.org.kh

No. 33 St. 71, Phnom Penh, Cambodia

Latin American and the Caribbean Council for AIDS Service Organizations (LACCASO)

Mr Edgar Carrasco

Regional Secretary

Av. Rómulo Gallegos. Edf. Maracay.

Apto. 21, piso 11. El Marqués 1071

Tel.: +1 58 212 232 79 38

Fax: +1 58 212 235 921 5

E-mail: ecarrasco@accsi.org.ve;

laccaso-sr@accsi.org.ve

Caracas, Venezuela

Lentswe Ra Lona

Ms Wala Nalungwe Tel.: +260 97 875 278
Executive Coordinator Fax: +260 1 25 44 21
P.O. Box 39014 E-mail: walan1@yahoo.com

Lusaka, Zambia

NGO / Civil Society

Ms Sarah Middleton-Lee Tel.: +44 7763 3048 49

Consulant / Participation in UNAIDS PCB E-mail: sarah@middletonlee.com

Flat 2, 12 Brunswick Place

Hove, East Sussex BN3 1NA, United Kingdom

Noaks Ark - Red Cross Foundation

 Mr Jan-Olof Morfeldt
 Tel.: +46 708 92 83 60

 Executive Director
 Fax: +46 870 04 610

Eriksbergsgatan 46 E-mail: jan-olof.morfeldt@noaksark.redcross.se

11430 Stockholm, Sweden

Ms Ophelia Haanyama Ørum Tel.: +46 8 700 4600 Senior Advisor Fax: +46 8 700 4610

Eriksbergsgatan 46 E-mail: ophelia.haanyama.orum@noaksark.redcross.se

11430 Stockholm, Sweden

NZP+

Ms Miriam Banda Tel.: +260 1 237 619 Chairperson Fax: +260 1 237 619

P.O. Box 32717 E-mail: milliebcee@yahoo.com

Lusaka, Zambia

OVC Education Programme

Mr Moses Zeggetti Tel.: +260 1 261115 / 260 1 097 764214

Desk Officer Fax: +260 1 261116

Box 30052 E-mail: moseovc@yahoo.com

Lusaka, Zambia

Panos Institute

Mr Ronald Kayanja Tel.: +260 1 263 258 Director, Panos Global AIDS Programme Fax: +260 1 261 039

32° Leopards Hill Road E-mail: ronald@panos.org.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

Planned Parenthood Association of Zambia

Mr Edgar Simbeye Tel.: +260 3 221 588 Assistant Project Coordinator – YMEP Project Fax: +260 1 256 123

PPAZ-YMEP E-mail: ymep_choma2005@yahoo.com

P.O. Box 630047 Mobile: +260 97 692 584

Choma, Zambia

Population Services International – Society for Family Health

Ms Alysha Beyer Tel.: +260 1 292 443 Health Services Technical Advisor Fax: +260 1 292 463

39 Central St. J Jesmondine E-mail: alyshab@sfh.org.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

Regional AIDS Training Network (RATN)

Dr John Mwesigwa Tel.: +254 20

3872235/3872129/3872201/3871016 Executive Director Fax: +254 20 3872270

P.O. Box 16035 00100 GPO E-mail: jmwesigwa@ratn.org

Nairobi, Kenya

Mr Kenneth Chelimo Tel.: +254 20

3872235/3872129/3872201/3871016

Information and Communications Officer Fax: +254 20 3872270 P.O. Box 16035 00100 GPO E-mail: ken@ratn.org

Nairobi, Kenya

Ms Caroline Maringa Tel.: +254 20

3872235/3872129/3872201/3871016

Resource Centre Administrator Fax: +254 20 3872270 P.O. Box 16035 00100 GPO E-mail: rcentre@ratn.org

Nairobi, Kenya

REPSSI

 Ms Noreen Huni
 Tel.: +27 11 998 5820

 Executive Director
 Fax: +27 11 789 65 25

 P.O. Box 1669
 E-mail: Noreen@repssi.org

Johannesburg 2125, South Africa

RFSU

Ms Katarina Lindahl Tel.: +46 86 92 07 97/69 207 44

Secretary General, RFSU Fax: +46 86 53 08 23

Box 4331 E-mail: katarina.lindahl@rfsu.se

10267 Stockholm, Sweden

Ms Ann Svensén Tel.: +46 86 92 07 93/69 207 44

Director of External Relations, Fax: +46 86 53 08 23

Advocacy and Resource Mobilization E-mail: ann.svensén@rfsu.se

RFSU Box 4331

10267 Stockholm, Sweden

Rotary International

Mr Abdulrahman (Tunji) Funsho

Africa Coordinator

Tel.: +234 64 942 385/946 494

E-mail: fafunsho@yahoo.com

Health and Hunger Resource Group

P.O. Box 107

25 Anhel Crescent Zoo Road

Kano, Nigeria

Russian Harm Reduction Network

Mr Vitaly Djuma Tel.: +7 495 785 0427 Executive Director Fax: +7 495 785 0428

Partiyny per., 1, korp.58-3 E-mail: vitally@harmreduction.ru

Office 228

Moscow 115093, Russia

Senior Citizens Association of Zambia

 Ms Isabel Sibongo
 Tel.: +260 1 255 803

 Chairperson
 Fax: +260 1 255 804

 P.O. Box 36246
 E-mail: scaz@zamtel.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

Society for Women and AIDS in Zambia (SWAAZ)

Ms Patricia Ndele Tel.: +260 243 359/243 360

Board Member Fax: +260 224 673

P.O. Box 50270 E-mail: swaaz@zamnet.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

Southern African AIDS Trust (SAT)

Ms Felicitas Chiganze Tel.: +27 11 341 0610

Deputy Executive Director E-mail: chiganze@satregional.org

P.O. Box 411919 Craighall Park 2024

Johannesburg, South Africa

Mr Allan Mushonga Tel.: +27 11 341 0610

Programme Officer, Communications and E-mail: mushonga@satregional.org

Publication P.O. Box 411919 Craighll Park 2024

Johannesburg, South Africa

Mr Zoonadi Ngwenya Tel.: +260 1 228 407 Country Programme Manager Fax: +260 1 234 313

SAT Zambia, Suite 3, 1st floor Bau House E-mail: ngwenya@satregional.org

1125 Parirenydjwa Road

Fairview Lusaka, Zambia

Southern Africa HIV/AIDS Information Dissemination Service (SAFAIDS)

Mrs Lois Chingandu

Tel.: +263 4 336 193/4

Executive Director

Fax: +263 4 336 195

17 Beveridge Road

E-mail: lois@safaids.org.zw

Avondale, Harare, Zimbabwe

Southern African Network of AIDS Service Organizations (SANASO)

 Ms Farai Mugweni
 Tel.: +263 4 745 748

 Executive Secretary
 Fax: +263 4 745 749

SANASO Secretariat E-mail: faria@africaonline.co.zw

6 Dunkirk Drive or <u>farai@sanaso.co.zw</u>

Old Alexandra Park P.O. Box 6690 Harare, Zimbabwe

Ms Mary Mbeba Tel.: +265 8 835 018/46 or +265 8 844 099

SANASO Chairperson Fax: +265 8 821 984

c/o Malawi Network of AIDS Service Organizations E-mail: marymbeba@yahoo.co.uk or

Secretariat, <u>kcnbt@malawi.net</u>

P.O. Box 2916 Blantyre, Malawi

Tasintha Programme

Prof. Nkandu Luo Tel.: +260 246 473/224 670

Chairperson Fax: +260 240 565

P.O. Box 35758 E-mail: tasinthaprogramme@zamtel.zm

TSF SA

Mr Anthony Kinghorn Tel.: +27 11 484 8217
Director, South Africa Fax: +27 11 484 6782

Postnet Suite #129, Private Bag x 7 Parkview E-mail: akinghorn@nda.co.za

2122 South Africa

TSF-SEAP, IPPF

 Mr James Rock
 Tel.: +603 4257 6180

 Director
 Fax: +603 4257 6994

 246 Lorong Enau
 E-mail: jrock@tsfseap.org

Off Jalan Ampang

50450 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

World AIDS Campaign

 Mr Marcel Van Soest
 Tel.: +31 20 616 9045

 Executive Director
 Fax: +31 20 612 9980

Warmoesstraat 149-151 E-mail: vansoestm@worldaidscampaign.org

1012 JC Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Young African Advocates for Rights

Ms Suzyo Nthazi Tel.: +260 97 855 549 Programme Manager Fax: +260 97 254 421

P.O. Box 39014 E-mail: suzam2003@yahoo.co.uk

Lusaka, Zambia

Youth Coalition

Mr Samuel Kissi Tel.: +233 244 409 636

Member, Board of Directors

Youth Coalition E-mail: Samuel@youthcoalition.org

P.O. Box 1633 Accra-Ghana, W/A

Youth Media

Ms Mary Phiri-Tembo Tel.: +260 1 29 07 45/48/54 Executive Director Fax: +260 1 29 07 45

Plot 5997 E-mail: mary@youthmedia.org.zm

Great East Road

Lusaka, Zambia

Youth Vision Zambia

Mr Amos Mwale Tel.: +260 97 77 52 66
Director Programmes Fax: +260 12 20 011

8th floor Findeco House E-mail: <u>amos@youthaidscoalition.org</u>

P.O. Box 37709 Cairo Road Lusaka, Zambia

 Mr Crissy Mupuchi
 Tel.: +260 97 75 76 26

 Information Officer
 Fax: +260 1 22 00 11

P.O. Box 37709 E-mail: mupuchi2004@yahoo.com

Cairo Road Lusaka, Zambia

Zambia AIDSLaw Research and Advocacy Network

Mr Paul Sichalwe Tel.: +260 1 229 648
Acting Executive Director Fax: +260 1 229 648
P.O. Box 39088 E-mail: yaran@yamtel.zm

Lusaka, Zambia

Zambia Centre for Communication Programmes

Mr Nkenda Sachingongu Tel.: +260 1 29 11 03 Research Manager Fax: +260 1 29 54 02

P.O. Box 31469, Lusaka, Zambia E-mail: nkendas@zccp.org.zm

Ms Lenganji Nanyangwe Tel.: +260 1 29 11 03
Programme Officer Fax: +260 1 29 54 02
P.O. Box 314 69 ngao285@yahoo.com
Lusaka, Zambia

 Ms Mandy Dube
 Tel.: +260 1 29 11 03

 Research Officer
 Fax: +260 1 29 54 02

P.O. Box 31469 E-mail: mandysd@zccp.org.zm Lusaka, Zambia

Zambia National AIDS Network (ZNAN)

Mr Sam Kapembwa Tel.: +260 1 256 791 / 92 Information and Communication Officer Fax: +260 1 256 790

P.O. Box 32401 E-mail: <u>samkapembwa@yahoo.co.uk</u>

Lusaka, Zambia

Zambia Nurses Association

(representing International Council of Nurses)
Ms Jennifer Mwanga Munsaka

Tel.: +260 1 225 135

Executive Director

Fax: +260 1 225 135

P.O. Box 50375 E-mail: znazam@zamnet.zm
Lusaka, Zambia

Zambia Red Cross Society

Mr Moses Simuyemba Tel.: +260 1 253661 / 254074
Health Programme Coordinator Fax: mosessimuyemba@yahoo.co.uk

Zambia Red Cross Society Box 50001 Ridgeway 15101Lusaka, Zambia

ANNEX II

19th Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board Lusaka, Zambia, 6–8 December 2006

Decisions, recommendations and conclusions

Recalling that all aspects of UNAIDS work are directed by the following guiding principles:

- Aligned to national stakeholders' priorities;
- Based on the meaningful and measurable involvement of civil society especially people living with HIV and populations most at risk of HIV infection;
- Based on human rights and gender equality;
- Based on the best available scientific evidence and technical knowledge; and
- Promoting comprehensive responses to AIDS that integrate prevention, treatment, care and support.

Agenda item 1.1: Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda

1. *Adopts* the provisional agenda as amended.

Agenda item 1.2: Confirmation of Officers

- 2.1 As decided at its 18th meeting, *confirms* Sweden as Chair, Thailand as Vice-Chair and Australia as Rapporteur for the 19th meeting of the Programme Coordinating Board; and
- 2.2 *Notes* the membership of the NGO delegation for 2007.

Agenda item 1.3: Statement of the Executive Director

In welcoming the Statement of the UNAIDS Executive Director, the Programme Coordinating Board:

- 3.1 Stresses the need for continued reform to ensure harmonized action at the country level, overcome bureaucratic bottlenecks, move with more urgency and encourage responsibility and accountability among member states, the United Nations and other development partners; in support of national ownership and leadership;
- 3.2 Recognizing the exceptionality of AIDS, *stresses* the link between AIDS and the long-term development agenda, including the strengthening of health systems, and the need to apply the Paris agenda on aid effectiveness in the AIDS response;
- 3.3 *Emphasizes* the particular need for HIV prevention to be translated into effective action at country level within the context of a comprehensive HIV response; address the fundamental drivers of the epidemic especially gender inequality, gender-based violence, and stigma and discrimination both

- among key affected groups and the general population; and establish appropriate HIV prevention targets;
- 3.4 *Notes* the importance of fully understanding the profile of HIV within different environments "know your epidemic" as an effective tool in setting strategic priorities in the response and requests UNAIDS to support national efforts in this regard;
- 3.5 Recognizes the necessity to track and monitor the use of available resources for the AIDS response and further refine the resource needs estimation methodology in consultation with relevant stakeholders;
- 3.6 Supports UNAIDS in developing a viable and sustainable long-term strategy for the AIDS response with a particular focus on resource mobilization and harmonization and agrees to the allocation of one million USD from the 2006-2007 UBW fund balance for this task:
- 3.7 *Recognizes* the potential of the private sector in addressing the epidemic, both within their own workplace and as partners in global efforts;
- 3.8 Further recognizes the high cost of second and third line anti-retroviral drugs as a barrier to treatment access and reaffirms the decision of the 18th Programme Coordinating Board meeting and the Political Declaration of the United Nations High Level Meeting on use by developing countries of flexibilities outlined in the World Trade Organization's agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) and strengthen their capacity for this purpose;
- 3.9 *Decides* that, based on the unique composition of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board in having representatives of NGOs and representatives of UNAIDS Cosponsors as Board members, all members of the Board have an equal opportunity to speak at Board meetings;
- 3.10 *Supports* the strong commitment of UNAIDS to work with The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria to ensure systematic cooperation and collaboration in responding to the epidemic;
- 3.11 *Further supports* the UNAIDS Executive Director's offer to provide a report at the 20th Programme Coordinating Board meeting in June 2007 on UNAIDS work as an example of UN reform in action in response to the report from the High Level Panel on System-Wide Coherence; and
- 3.12 *Acknowledges* the intention of UNAIDS to make Programme Acceleration Funds exclusively available to Joint UN Teams on AIDS and Joint Programmes of Support and ensure effective and timely reporting on their use in supporting national strategic frameworks.

Agenda item 2: Progress in implementation and coordination of the national response

- 4.1 Recognizes the need for continued follow-up support to countries in their national target setting towards universal access for comprehensive HIV prevention programmes, treatment, care and support, in particular the facilitation of coordinated strategies to overcome identified obstacles to scaling up; and further recognizes the continuing importance of ensuring that targets are gender disaggregated; and requests UNAIDS to report on progress at the June 2007 Programme Coordinating Board meeting; in doing so UNAIDS should access additional data sources, including independent reports from civil society and academic institutions;
- 4.2 *Welcomes* the development of the Civil Society Guidelines to strengthen the meaningful involvement of civil society, in particular people living with HIV, in national AIDS responses with a view to developing an implementation strategy;
- 4.3 *Calls* for greater involvement and partnership of non-state actors in policy-setting and information-sharing processes in national AIDS responses;
- 4.4 *Calls* upon UNAIDS to use its facilitating role to bring National Authorities to fulfil their commitments to work with Civil Society;
- 4.5 Recognizes the importance of the Country Harmonization & Alignment Tool for increasing country level accountability as a tool for identifying opportunities for greater harmonization and alignment as part of national AIDS reviews and requests UNAIDS to report on progress in December 2007 to the Programme Coordinating Board members; and
- 4.6 *Requests* presentation of the final report on the Global Task Team Independent Assessment to the 20th Programme Coordinating Board meeting in June 2007.

Agenda item 3: Multilateral support at country level

- 5.1 *Calls* on Executive Heads of UNAIDS Cosponsors and the Secretariat to ensure that:
 - a) their respective country-level representatives act upon the Secretary-General's directive on the establishment of Joint UN Teams on AIDS with Joint Programmes of Support aligned to the national AIDS Frameworks;
 - b) the agency representative in country be provided with appropriate incentives, including performance assessments, to ensure joint UN programming, including harmonization and alignment, around HIV and AIDS;
 - c) country partners are aware of, and promote the use of Technical Support Facilities and other mechanisms; in facilitating quality technical assistance;
 - d) country staff work closely with national partners to identify and resolve implementation difficulties, including existing gaps, and address the need for technical support; including the involvement of Global Joint Problem-Solving and Implementation Support Team (GIST);

- 5.2 Requests UNAIDS Secretariat to ensure that the Technical Support Facilities evaluation report includes information on who provided and who benefited from the capacity building and technical assistance, especially how much support was provided to benefit vulnerable populations;
- 5.3 Calls on Programme Coordinating Board members and observers to act in a coherent manner on the Boards of UNAIDS Cosponsors to ensure the full implementation of the Secretary General's directive to establish joint UN teams on AIDS and joint programmes;
- 5.4 *Encourages* development partners to support UN reform at country level by funding Joint AIDS programmes which respect the division of labour;
- 5.5 Requests UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors to review the practical barriers to joint programming at country level, and report to their Boards on how they plan to overcome these barriers in order to enable donors to fund joint programmes more effectively;
- 5.6 Calls for UNAIDS Secretariat and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria to better coordinate the response to the technical assistance needs of countries implementing Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria grants, including the use of south-south cooperation to scale-up provision of technical support to country partners in implementing these grants; and
- 5.7 Calls on donors and technical support providers to work more closely with UNAIDS and national stakeholders at the sub-regional and country levels on strengthening country long-term capacities in national strategic and operational planning, as well as in mainstreaming AIDS in national and local development instruments and sectoral programmes. Such collaboration to include the promotion of AIDS Strategic Action Plan (ASAP) services, as well as complementing them with additional funding and harmonized technical support.

Agenda item 4.1: 2007-2010 Strategic Framework for UNAIDS support to countries' efforts to move towards universal access

- 6.1 Endorses the Framework as the principal guide to global, regional and country-level planning, budgeting, implementation and monitoring of progress of the Joint Programme's support to countries efforts to move towards the goal of universal access from 2007 to 2010 and requests the UNAIDS Secretariat to provide a mid-term review report on progress during the 21st Programme Coordinating Board meeting in 2008; and
- 6.2 *Welcomes* the Secretariat's pledge to make relevant changes to the final Strategic Framework reflecting the written comments provided in support of the interventions made during the 19th Programme Coordinating Board meeting.

Agenda item 4.2: Review of UNAIDS tasks

- 7.1 *Reaffirms* the five guiding principles, as amended, as intrinsic in all Programme Coordinating Board recommendations, decisions and conclusions, and *decides* to include them as a preamble to all sets of future Programme Coordinating Board decisions, recommendations and conclusions;
- 7.2 *Decides* to be mindful of the intrinsic nature of the guiding principles in its production of concrete, actionable and time-bound decisions, recommendations and conclusions;
- 7.3 *Endorses* the list of active tasks proposed for retirement and requests the Secretariat to regularly review tasks for potential retirement;
- 7.4 *Takes note* of the consolidation of active tasks into broad functions clustered under the strategic directions of the 2007-2010 strategic framework for UNAIDS' support to countries' efforts to move towards universal access; and
- 7.5 *Takes further note* of the consolidation of mandates originating from decisions of UN principal bodies.

Agenda item 5: Strengthening of global coordination on AIDS

8. Decides to establish a process under the leadership of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board, in close consultation with Board members and observers and with the support of the UNAIDS Secretariat, to elaborate further on the UNAIDS role in strengthening Global Coordination of AIDS and how to develop the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board into a more relevant and effective policy-making Board; the process will include matters such as number of Board meetings, venues, character of meetings, Board representation, NGO participation, speaking protocol, decision-making and the further development of the constituency system; a report with recommendations will be presented to the 20th Programme Coordinating Board in June 2007.

Agenda item 6: AIDS, Security and Humanitarian Response

- 9.1 Recognizing that AIDS policies and programmes are not consistently integrated into security and humanitarian responses, *calls* on UN Resident and Humanitarian Coordinators, UN Country Teams and UNAIDS Country Coordinators to actively address the AIDS needs of emergency-affected populations and uniformed services at country level, through promoting the systematic use of existing guidelines, through building and sustaining AIDS mainstreaming capacity within UN Country Teams and national partners, and through the cluster approach in humanitarian responses and to develop stronger linkages between humanitarian recovery and national development responses;
- 9.2 *Endorses* the efforts of UNAIDS and its partners (such as the Department of Peacekeeping Operations), to continue addressing AIDS within national uniformed services and peacekeeping forces, including through the better integration of military with civilian national AIDS programmes and the promotion of comprehensive prevention, treatment, care and support services;

- 9.3 Recommends that UNAIDS address the impact of AIDS on key government cadres other than the military, including the judiciary, police and local government, and recognizes that programmes must target other institutions and groups, taking into account the demands and challenges of the particular epidemic;
- 9.4 Calls on both national governments and international donors to ensure that AIDS is accounted for in humanitarian preparedness and response, including needs assessments and *further calls* on international donors to adapt development and humanitarian funding instruments to allow sufficient AIDS funding in humanitarian response and during the transition between emergency and recovery and reconstruction periods;
- 9.5 Requests UNAIDS to strengthen AIDS responses in humanitarian emergencies and security operations including through, inter alia, the development of a strategic framework for action between the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and UNAIDS; pursuing membership or formal association between the UNAIDS Secretariat and the global-level United Nations Inter-Agency Standing Committee and through strengthened leadership in the Task Force on AIDS and Security;
- 9.6 *Recognizes* that the complex links between security, humanitarian emergencies and HIV vulnerability and services demand further research, and *requests* UNAIDS to advocate, support and collaborate in such research; and
- 9.7 *Calls* on UNAIDS to intensify programmatic efforts on the intersection between gender- based violence and HIV, including but not limited to situations of conflict, particularly acknowledging the unique contributions of women survivors and those affected by violence.

Agenda item 7: Any other business

No decision taken.

Agenda item 8: Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

10. *Adopts* the decisions, recommendations and conclusions of the 19th UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board meeting.